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To the memory of Bill Clark, for the greater honor and glory, and for the “DP”











“Every human being [is] unique and unrepeatable.”


—Pope John Paul II, Christmas Day 1978


“There is purpose and worth to each and every life.”


—Ronald Reagan, November 4, 1991













Prologue MAY 13, 1981 MOSCOW TAKES ITS SHOT



On May 13, 1981, sixty-year-old Pope John Paul II, two and a half years into an already historic papacy, hopped into his open-air vehicle to ride through Saint Peter’s Square and greet the ecstatic crowd. Thousands from all over the world had gathered for the pontiff’s weekly public audience: American and Italian, Chinese and German, English and African—Turkish and Bulgarian.1


It was a beautiful Wednesday in Rome. It was also a special day spiritually. May 13 was the Feast Day of Our Lady of Fátima, harkening back to the day in 1917 that began a series of remarkable events connected to the Virgin Mary, to whom this pope had dedicated his life and papacy.


The fact that this pontiff was Polish had alone made his papacy historic. When Karol Wojtyła was chosen the 264th heir to the chair of Saint Peter in October 1978, the Polish cardinal was the first non-Italian pope in 455 years and the first Slavic pope ever. More powerful still, his native Poland was the heart of the Communist Bloc in Eastern Europe, and the one spot in the Soviet atheistic empire—which the American president would unforgettably call an “Evil Empire”—where the communist war on religion had failed.


“If you choose the example of what we Poles have in our pockets and in our shops… communism has done very little for us,” said Lech Wałęsa, the hero of Poland’s anti-Soviet Solidarity movement, and one of millions of Poles whose admiration of John Paul II bordered on veneration. “But if you choose the example of what is in our souls, I answer that communism has done very much for us. In fact our souls contain exactly the opposite of what they wanted. They wanted us not to believe in God, and our churches are full.”2 These were powerful words that Wałęsa’s favorite American president, Ronald Reagan, would invoke as an indictment of the Moscow menace.3


The Poles’ fidelity to the Church rather than to Moscow angered communist authorities; the stunning selection of this Polish pope made them even angrier. In the 1970s, under the détente presidencies of Richard Nixon, Gerald Ford, and Jimmy Carter and the Ostpolitik papacy of Pope Paul VI, the Soviets picked up nearly a dozen satellite states around the world. These were major Cold War victories.


Then the Vatican conclave chose the Polish pope. The advent of this pontiff threatened the Soviets’ global ambitions, particularly when paired with the new leadership that came to Washington under President Reagan two years later. With characteristic vitriol, one Soviet publication in early 1981 denounced John Paul II as “malicious, lowly, perfidious, and backward” and as a “toady of the American militarists” who was seeking to undermine communism with his “overseas accomplices” and “new boss in the White House.”4


That was Moscow’s take on this future saint and his emerging partner in the Oval Office. But these leaders were not “accomplices,” and neither was the other’s “boss.” Their relationship would be a partnership of equals.


Make no mistake: Pope John Paul II and President Ronald Reagan scared the Kremlin. And with good reason. The pope implored his people to choose God’s side over what the Protestant Reagan and the Roman Catholic Church both called “godless communism.” The Soviets dubbed Reagan “The Crusader.”5


Soviet officials knew that this Polish pontiff was a grave affront to their existence. They wanted him dead. And now, on May 13, 1981, two and a half years into his papacy, they were ready to take their shot.





CONSPIRATORS


Carrying out this evil plan was a cabal of plotters primarily from Muslim Turkey and communist Bulgaria. Not since the First World War had Turks and Bulgarians found a way to overcome bitter differences and partner for the cause of murder and mayhem. In World War I, the partnership meant unprecedented death, precipitating the appearance of a Lady in Fátima. Back then, too, the Turks and Bulgarians had the support of the Bolsheviks—all of them violently confronted Czarist-Christian Russia. Now there was common ground again: the Bolsheviks, the Bulgarians, and the Turks all violently confronted the Slavic-Christian man in Rome.


Mehmet Ali Agca of Turkey had been commissioned to deliver a fatal blow. Later he would name seven accomplices, all working under a plan conceived by the Bulgarian secret service, one of the communist world’s most restrictive intelligence services, and the one most subject to Moscow’s control.6


At 9 A.M. on May 13, Agca gathered with his collaborators. The driver was a Bulgarian named Zelio Vasilev. He gave instructions to Agca and his Turkish friend Oral Çelik, telling them that Sergei Antonov, another Bulgarian conspirator, would help them escape after they finished their bloody assignment. Antonov, according to the plan, would whisk away the assassins to a large delivery truck concealed as a Bulgarian household-goods company, a front for the communist state’s secret service. At 10 A.M., the Bulgarians drove off, leaving the Turks.7


The Turks would wait a while. At 3 P.M. Antonov reconnected with Agca and Çelik in the Piazza della Repubblica. He was driving a blue sports car. With him was another Bulgarian, Todor Aivazov. They handed the Turks two packages, one with a 9-millimeter handgun and the other with a panic bomb to scatter the crowd after the shooting and facilitate their escape.8


The four men made their way toward the Vatican, arriving at 4 o’clock. Agca and Çelik took their positions among a crowd of faithful seeking repentance and reconciliation. Reports on the precise plan of action vary, but it seems Agca was supposed to fire all or most of the shots, with Çelik perhaps firing if necessary but at the least setting off the panic bomb.9


The Polish pontiff came out in his small, white Fiat “Popemobile,” waving to the excited gathering, grabbing hands and giving kisses, lifting children in his arms, smiling joyously.


As John Paul II’s vehicle moved slowly along, the twenty-three-year-old Agca anxiously clutched his concealed 9-millimeter semiautomatic. It was well after 5 P.M. before the pope finally came within a few yards of Agca. The pope’s vehicle passed the ancient obelisk in the center of Saint Peter’s Square. Two millennia earlier, Peter himself would have passed the same obelisk on his way to his execution at the hands of the enemies of Christ’s Church.10


As John Paul II edged closer, the Turkish national lifted his pistol. Loud cracks of gunfire filled the air. Four shots were fired, two of which hit the pope, one in the left hand and another in the abdomen.11


It was roughly quarter past the hour, a time that some have pinpointed as 5:13 P.M.—when the numbers on the clock stood in perfect harmony with the numbers on the calendar on this Feast Day of Our Lady of Fátima.12


The strong, physically fit pope folded and collapsed, his white figure sinking into the arms of his aides. Cradling his sagging frame were his loyal Polish secretary, Father Stanisław Dziwisz, and his personal assistant, Angelo Gugel.


“Mary, my mother; Mary, my mother,” said John Paul II, who had lost his earthly mother as a child. “Hail Mary, full of grace, the Lord is with thee,” he prayed, imploring the mother of Christ for her intercession at the heavenly throne of the Lord, the Lord she had watched be murdered by executioners. “Pray for us sinners, now and at the hour of our death. Amen.”







“IT WAS YOU!”


After the gunshots were fired, Oral Çelik fled the scene in panic, failing to ignite his diversionary bomb. He would not be seen again.


Gunman Mehmet Ali Agca tried to flee as well. Here was a veteran terrorist who, in the words of the Italian judge who later prosecuted him, harbored “a natural vocation for crime” and was an “exceptionally gifted killer used for exceptional assignments and paid accordingly.” But this paid assassin, a menacing and calculating figure, was nabbed—by a nun.


Sister Letizia, a sturdy and resourceful Franciscan nun from the Italian city of Bergamo, grabbed Agca, and a Vatican security official and bystanders soon joined her in subduing the would-be assassin. “Why did you do it?” the nun asked the shooter. Agca lied: “Not me! Not me!” She responded sternly, “Yes, you! It was you!” as Agca struggled to break her grip.13


Agca had been apprehended, but he was safer than he realized in the clutch of Sister Letizia. Unbeknownst to Agca, his own life was in as much danger as the pontiff’s: his communist friends were intending to murder him as soon as he got away from Saint Peter’s Square.14 It was part of their plan.


It was how communists did things. It was how they valued life.







THE SOVIET CONNECTION, REVEALED


The fallen pope was rushed into an ambulance that sped through the interior of the Vatican to Porta Sant’Anna, the Port of Saint Anne, a side gate named for the mother of the Virgin Mary. From there, the ambulance headed straight for Gemelli Hospital, the teaching hospital of the Catholic University of the Sacred Heart. It was one of Rome’s best hospitals, only four miles away, though traffic was almost impassable. Providentially, a Gemelli physician just happened to be nearby and jumped inside the ambulance.


Back in Saint Peter’s Square, the shocked faithful listened as the loudspeaker delivered a message in Italian, English, French, Chinese, and several other languages: “The Holy Father has been wounded. We will now offer prayers for him.” The assembled did just that, amid tears. The flock sang. A Polish hymn played over the loudspeaker.15


John Paul II was barely conscious when he got to the hospital. “How could they do it?” he asked a nurse before losing consciousness.16 Who he meant by “they” was not specified. But this Polish pontiff, Public Enemy No. 1 to the communist empire, apparently had a hunch.


His first word to Dziwisz, who had lost himself in intense prayer to “the hands of God” and to the intercession of “Our Lady,” was a whispered “Thirsty,” reminiscent of the suffering Christ’s words of agony on the cross. Then the pope added: “Just like Bachelet.” This was a reference to Vittorio Bachelet, a Catholic politician murdered by Italian Red Brigade communists the year before.17


The pope was badly hurt. He underwent five and a half hours of emergency surgery, hemorrhaging much worse than anyone knew at the time. In this and other ways, he was mirroring what had happened to Ronald Reagan just six weeks earlier, when a gunman tried to take the new president’s life. John Paul suffered a severe loss of blood, requiring a transfusion of six pints. Sections of his mangled intestine were removed. He had watched his dearest friends, some of them fellow Polish priests, die from Nazi bullets and Soviet bullets. Was it now his turn, too, for a martyr’s death? And who, ultimately, was responsible for the bullet?


At that moment, only Agca’s involvement was known. That would remain the case for weeks, even years. In fact, to this day many observers insist that only Agca’s role can be confirmed.


But at the time and ever since, many suspected that Moscow was behind the assassination attempt. A few years after the shooting, Agca fingered the Bulgarians as his accomplices. Agca’s claim only intensified suspicion that Moscow was involved. As the pope’s friends in the Reagan White House could eagerly attest, Bulgaria’s secret service was a dutiful stooge of the Soviet KGB (political intelligence) and GRU (military intelligence). Bulgaria’s loyal party apparatchiks did practically everything with the supreme comradely confidence of the USSR. It is difficult to conceive that they would attempt a major assassination without Moscow’s go-ahead, if not full participation.


Early on, Italian investigators began gathering critical information that appeared to trace the crime to the Kremlin. Many eyes looked in the direction of the KGB. Both Bulgaria and Russia adamantly denied any such accusations and condemned the claims of Italian judges.


A quarter century after the assassination attempt, an Italian commission brought us close to the truth. That commission had access to tens of thousands of pages of documents that Italian investigators had collected, plus some twenty-five thousand highly classified Soviet documents that a KGB archivist had smuggled out of Moscow in 1992. All those documents provide vital evidence not available until years after the shooting.


Yet there is one last piece of this puzzle that has never been reported.


This book will affirm what many have suspected: the Soviets ordered the attempted assassination of Pope John Paul II. The crime is traceable to Moscow—but not, it turns out, to the KGB.


What has not been known—until this book—is that the CIA director under Ronald Reagan secretly investigated the case and discovered the Soviet role. William J. Casey suspected Moscow to the point that he ordered an extremely sensitive CIA investigation known only to a few highly trusted individuals, many of whom took to the grave their knowledge of what really happened that May 13. That investigation, conducted by a tight-knit group under Casey’s command, concluded that the GRU had ordered the assassination.


Four years after the shooting, President Reagan learned what had transpired in the lead-up to May 13, 1981. He was informed by Casey alone, just the two of them in the room. The information was so explosive that the report and its dramatic conclusion have never been released or even acknowledged. To this day, it remains the most secret report of the Cold War.


Keep in mind the context: Tensions in the Cold War had never run higher. The Soviets had been on the advance in the 1970s, but now President Reagan and his partner in the Vatican were standing up to the threat of Soviet communism. The 1980s intensified fears of World War III between two nuclear-armed superpowers. Now imagine if news broke that the U.S. government had discovered a Soviet-orchestrated assassination attempt on the leader of the world’s largest religion, who was a voice for those suffering under Soviet communism.


One source with knowledge of the report told me, “I’ve never, ever, in all my years, seen anything as secretive as that document.” Speaking of those privileged few who had seen it, most of whom are now deceased, the source added jokingly, “This was so classified that they nearly shot the secretary who typed it.” Few reports, if any, have been so thoroughly kept from view.


“That report exists,” I have been assured. “If someone can find it, you’ve got the most explosive report of the twentieth century.”


I have searched tirelessly for the report, examining numerous archives and pursuing many other avenues. I have not found the document, but I know its conclusion, based on eyewitness accounts that high-level sources gave me. I hope this book compels action that leads to the release of the report.







THE BOND


Over the past quarter century, historians have increasingly given President Ronald Reagan and Pope John Paul II due credit for their roles in ending the Cold War. But despite the fine work of previous chroniclers,18 few appreciate the depth or significance of the bond between the president and the pope. That bond drove the two men to confront and ultimately defeat what they knew to be the great evil of the twentieth century: Soviet communism.


The bond between Reagan and John Paul II began forming well before they met. In June 1979, candidate Reagan was moved to tears as he watched news footage of the pontiff’s first trip to his homeland.19 The excited Polish crowds thronging the pope spoke not simply to pride in a native son but also to the enduring religious faith and yearning for freedom behind the Soviets’ Iron Curtain. Reagan resolved that as president he would reach out to the pope and the Vatican and “make them an ally.”20


Nothing intensified the bond as much as the assassination attempts, which occurred only six weeks apart in the spring of 1981. Each man was shocked upon receiving news that the other had been shot. Reagan, still recovering from his own wounds, was so stricken by the news of the attempt on the pope’s life that every day for weeks he would ask his national security adviser, Richard V. Allen, for updates on John Paul II’s health. The president had a message delivered directly to the pontiff, saying that he “happily” joined him in their “dubious distinction” of surviving assassins’ bullets.


The Soviets had worried about an anticommunist, anti-Moscow kinship between the president and the pope. Now, in the space of just weeks, these two men suffered assassination attempts and strikingly similar near-death experiences. The experiences—a unique shared suffering and sacrifice—brought them much closer together.


That connection became apparent when Reagan and John Paul II met for the first time, in June 1982. There, in the Vatican, the president and pope confided their conviction that God had spared their lives a year earlier for the divine purpose of defeating the communist empire.


This book will explore that June 1982 meeting and many other aspects of the partnership between Reagan and John Paul II. It is important to understand the character of their relationship. This book does not suggest that the two men were painstakingly coordinating, day in and day out, their tactical efforts to take down an atheistic empire. But their partnership must not be underestimated, either. As this book will show, the two leaders had common goals, visions, and motivations, and they eagerly worked together where and when they could, with much mutual support and respect. The extent of their communications, including telegrams, phone calls, and private meetings, will surprise some readers.


Just as important, the former Hollywood actor and the Polish priest shared rather remarkable similarities. This book will examine another surprising but crucial element of the story: the deep spiritual bond between the Protestant president and the Catholic pope. Inspired by that bond, they worked together toward a grand objective, one that would benefit people of all stripes, religious or not, from East to West: to take down communism.


Reagan’s single most trusted aide throughout his political career was William P. Clark, who succeeded Dick Allen as national security adviser in 1982. Clark was Reagan’s closest adviser on fighting the Cold War. A devout Catholic, he often discussed spiritual matters with Reagan. The two of them privately spoke of the “DP”: the “Divine Plan” to defeat communism.


Reagan and John Paul II saw God’s hand not only in their own roles but also in that of Mikhail Gorbachev, who became the Soviet general secretary in 1985. The final Soviet leader consistently perplexed and attracted Reagan and the pope. Gorbachev’s political and spiritual journey remains a complicated subject, with details that have eluded public knowledge. It contains more than a few faith-based elements, beginning with Gorbachev’s secret baptism in the Stalin era by his Orthodox mother and grandmothers. Reagan and John Paul II hoped and prayed that the new Soviet leader was a “closet Christian” rescuing an officially atheistic state. A Protestant, a Catholic, and perhaps a man of the Orthodox Church—all part of the DP.


Perhaps the most surprising part of this story relates to Reagan’s fascination with the “secrets of Fátima,” which date to the reported apparitions of the Virgin Mary in Fátima, Portugal, starting on May 13, 1917—sixty-four years to the day before the attempt on John Paul II’s life.


It is hardly news that the pope connected the shooting and many of communism’s crimes to the events of 1917. What is new is that the Protestant Reagan, who had a fondness and appreciation for the Virgin Mary, developed an intense interest in Mary’s appearance at Fátima and the suggested connections to the Soviet Union, the Cold War, and the shooting of the pope. Reagan discussed the matter with close aides and perhaps even with the pope himself, who was devoted to the Blessed Virgin.


And so this story begins not in 1981 but on May 13, 1917.













Part 1 WARNINGS AND BEGINNINGS











1 MAY 13, 1917 AN ECHO



The sounds of the bullets that pierced the afternoon air of Saint Peter’s Square on May 13, 1981, were an echo of a message that began resounding sixty-four years earlier, on May 13, 1917. The message was said to have come from Mary, the mother of Christ.


Before we go any further, an explanation is in order. This book is a work of historical investigation, not a religious apologetic. Given that, it may seem odd to examine the role of the Virgin Mary in crucial events of the twentieth century. To some readers it will be off-putting. But I ask you to stick with me, even if you do not believe in the supernatural or are a religious person skeptical of Catholic claims of Marian apparitions. The fact is that many of the figures in this book believed devoutly in what I am about to share. They believed that these forces underlay important political and historical developments. John Paul II, in particular, connected the appearance of the Virgin Mary at Fátima to his attempted assassination and to the crimes of communism. Non-Catholics like Ronald Reagan lent their ear to this account.


And so the Virgin Mary features prominently in this book for the simple reason that key players saw her as being significant to how the long story of communism played out. This book does not seek to convince you of the Marian connection. The point is that you must understand the role the “secrets of Fátima” played in the thought of John Paul II and Ronald Reagan to gain a full understanding of how the special relationship between the pope and the president changed world history.


I am reporting nothing new when I say that John Paul paid special heed to Our Lady of Fátima. He consecrated himself and his papacy to the Virgin Mary, because doing so brought him closer to her divine Son and His will. “Her mediation,” John Paul wrote in his classic encyclical on Mary, Redemptoris Mater, comes “in the nature of intercession.” The pope argued that the Church had “great trust” in Mary, just as God himself, the Eternal Father, had trusted the Virgin of Nazareth, giving her his only begotten Son. That is why Karol Wojtyła entrusted himself to the Virgin Mary, the “God-bearer,” for her “special and exceptional mediation.”1 The sainted pontiff’s papal motto was “Totus Tuus,” which is Latin for “Totally Yours,” meaning totally Mary’s, and totally Jesus’s via Mary. In a 2003 Angelus address, the pope affirmed his commitment to “entrusting everything” to Mary. He stated unhesitatingly that the Blessed Virgin “directs our daily journey on earth” and makes comprehensible “certain events” in “human history.” Her hand helped him comprehend events from 1917 to 1981, from his first to his final days on earth.2


But if this Marian dedication to Jesus is something we have long known about John Paul II, we have not known the interest Ronald Reagan had in the Virgin Mary. In 2004 I published a bestselling book on the faith of Ronald Reagan without knowing the intriguing Marian element to his thinking. I learned it only later.


The story begins a century ago, in 1917.




THE THREE SECRETS OF FÁTIMA


Between May 13 and October 13, 1917, three children in a tiny Portuguese village called Fátima claimed to have had six encounters with the Virgin Mary—with the actual spiritual-physical presence of the Mother of Christ. Through the centuries innumerable faithful have claimed encounters with Mary, but it is rare for the Roman Catholic Church even to investigate such claims, and far rarer still for the Church to certify them. The Church approaches claims of apparitions with a prudential skepticism that would surprise a Richard Dawkins or the late Christopher Hitchens. Of nearly four hundred serious claims of Marian apparitions in the twentieth century, in less than a dozen instances the Church gingerly concluded that some supernatural character was apparent.3 Non-Catholics cannot conceive of the frustration many Catholics feel over the Church’s delay or rejection of this or that perceived appearance that a large number of Catholics are convinced is genuine.4


Fátima is one of the few approved apparitions, having survived the highest level of rigor. The three children who claimed that the Virgin Mary appeared to them faced a barrage of interrogations, often cruel, and sometimes by outright hostile clergy. Thousands of eyewitnesses offered testimony in support of the claims. No less an authority than Cardinal Tarcisio Bertone, who as Vatican secretary of state was the second highest-ranking official, behind only the pope, said that “what happened at Fátima has been studied, microscopically scrutinized, and thoroughly analyzed.”5


That is why John Paul II and so many others accorded these events the utmost seriousness.


The three children, Lúcia dos Santos and her younger cousins Jacinta and Francisco Marto, said that Mary first appeared to them on May 13, 1917, a Sunday. At the time, May 13 was the Catholic Church’s liturgical celebration of Our Lady of the Most Blessed Sacrament—that is, Mother of the ongoing Real Presence of Jesus in the world. Only eight days earlier, on May 5, Pope Benedict XV had made a direct appeal to Mary to intercede in ending the Great War, which would claim some seventeen million lives.


The three children had gone to Mass before taking their flock of sheep to a spot outside the village called the Cova da Iria, which means “Cove of Irene” or “Cove of Peace.” They ate their lunches and played. It was a beautiful afternoon, but then they saw a flash of lightning. Turning to head home to escape what they thought was an impending storm, they saw another flash. This time they were shaken by the sudden manifestation of a lady in white, whom Lúcia later described as “more brilliant than the sun,” radiating a “clear and intense” light. The most radiant light of all emanated from a crucifix on a rosary the Lady held, a rosary with beads glimmering like stars. Lúcia later estimated the young woman’s age to be about seventeen.6


Sensing the trepidation among the children, the Lady repeated the words that a startled earthly Mary had received from the Angel Gabriel. “Do not be afraid,” she told them.


Lúcia, at age ten the oldest of the three children, was the only one who communicated with the Lady. “Where are you from?” Lúcia asked. The woman answered, “I am from heaven.” The girl then asked what she wanted; the Lady replied that she wanted the children to come to the same spot on the thirteenth day of each month for six consecutive months. “Later,” she vowed, “I will tell you who I am and what I want.”7


On that May 13, Mary asked the children whether they were willing to endure the trials that lay ahead, the divine plan that God had in store. Were they willing to suffer as sacrifice and in reparation for the sins of the world that were offending Him? If so, would they provide supplication in a way that would convert sinners? The children gave their assent.


During each of the next five months, typically on the thirteenth day, the Lady returned. On June 13 she told the children something they must have struggled to assimilate: she said that Jesus Christ wanted the world to make special devotion to the Immaculate Heart of Mary, which had pumped blood into His earthly body as it formed in the womb. On July 13 the Blessed Lady gave the children a vision of hell. As she did, the children were allegedly infused with a protective grace that enabled them to observe the vision without being so terrified as to perish at the sight.


More than that, the Lady provided predictions. According to Lúcia, the Blessed Mother delivered three dramatic prophecies:


First, the Lady of Fátima predicted that the earthly hell of the Great War would soon end but would be followed by an even deadlier war.


Second, she warned about the coming eruption of atheistic communism: “Russia will spread its errors throughout the world,” said the Lady, “raising up wars and persecutions of the Church” in the century ahead. Russia would be an “instrument of chastisement.” She reportedly shared this prophecy on July 13, only three months before the Bolsheviks shocked the world by taking power in Russia. Over the next several decades, Lenin and his disciples fulfilled the warning of “wars and persecutions” and “chastisement.”


Thus, this book will explore not only the extraordinary events that Ronald Reagan and John Paul II faced but also the crimes and errors that the communists committed throughout the twentieth century. Communism made victims of priests, cardinals, bishops, reverends, nuns, rabbis, Buddhist monks, and Muslim imams, and also of leaders like John F. Kennedy, Pope Pius XII, Aleksandr Solzhenitsyn, Lech Wałęsa, and Pope John Paul II. It is crucial to understand this history of communist “persecutions” and “errors” to grasp why both Pope John Paul II and Ronald Reagan saw communism as the great evil of the twentieth century and came together to confront it.


What was the third secret of Fátima? As we shall see, the Vatican sealed that secret in a vault, where it stayed for the remainder of the long century. Some feared it predicted a third world war, or Armageddon. It turns out that it envisioned another communist crime: the assassination, or at least an attempted assassination, of a man robed and hatted in white—that is, a pope.8


The Lady also told Lúcia that her two cousins would be leaving this world “soon,” whereas Lúcia was to “stay here some time longer.” Both Jacinta and Francisco died within three years, victims of the influenza epidemic that followed the war. Lúcia did live longer—to the age of ninety-seven, in fact, long enough to see the three predictions come true. As an adult—by which point she was Sister Lúcia, a Carmelite nun—she would record the three secrets in writing.







THE MIRACLE OF THE CENTURY


The last of the Virgin Mary’s six alleged apparitions in Fátima occurred just a week and a half before the outbreak of the Bolshevik Revolution.9


What materialized on October 13, 1917, became the most significant Church-approved miracle of the century. Some enthusiasts among the Catholic brethren contend that it was the greatest supernatural feat since the Resurrection.


A miracle, by its nature, is hard to believe; it’s a miracle, after all. But it is imperative to recall the rigorous, skeptical approach that the Roman Catholic Church takes to investigating reports of Marian apparitions. And after having “microscopically scrutinized and thoroughly analyzed” the Fátima case (in Cardinal Bertone’s words), the Church concluded that something miraculous transpired in that tiny Portuguese village.


On October 13 a crowd of some seventy thousand, pilgrims and skeptics alike, descended on Fátima. Lúcia, Jacinta, and Francisco had told people to expect a miracle, and word had gotten around. Some four thousand people had been present for the July 13 visitation and twenty-five thousand for the September 13 appearance, though only the children could see and communicate with the Lady. Now there were so many more because the Lady had promised a miracle for all to see in October.


It had rained all morning. Throughout the dreary day, the throng was getting antsy, angry. Where was this miracle? Surely this was a hoax. How could these mere children mislead so many?


Then something suddenly changed. The children became locked in, fixated, staring upward. Something was there, communicating to them. Fulfilling her July 13 promise to Lúcia that she would eventually reveal her true identity, the mystical woman told the children, “I am the Lady of the Rosary.” Reiterating what she had said earlier, she told them that the current war would end soon, with fathers returning from the frontlines. She urged reparation and penance.


Then came what everyone was waiting for. As Lúcia later described it, the Lady of the Rosary opened her hands and “made them reflect on the sun, and as she ascended, the reflection of her own light continued to be projected on the sun itself.” Lúcia cried out to the gathered to look at the sun.


Two unbelievable things happened. The three children watched the Lady vanish “into the immense distance of the firmament” (as Lúcia later explained it), only to behold in the sky Saint Joseph with the Child Jesus aside the Lady robed in white with a blue mantle. It was the Holy Family. The Christ child and His earthly father traced the Sign of the Cross with their elevated hands as if to bless the world.10


This was surreal enough, but as the three children were mesmerized, the stunned thousands were felled by another spectacle altogether: they saw the sun do incredible things, beyond scientific explanation.







THE WITNESSES


If the children had been the only witnesses, no one would remember the scene today. But what happened next was backed by the testimonies of those who were there.


Here are merely a few eyewitness accounts among the many collected and published. One witness was Dr. José Maria de Almeida Garrett, a professor in the Faculty of Sciences at the prestigious University of Coimbra, the oldest institution of higher education in Portugal. Dr. Garrett had gone to Fátima a skeptic, but what he witnessed changed his outlook. He recounted:




It must have been 1:30 P.M.… The sky, which had been overcast all day, suddenly cleared; the rain stopped and it looked as if the sun were about to fill with light the countryside that the wintery morning had made so gloomy.… The sun, a few moments before, had broken through the thick layer of clouds which hid it and now shone clearly and intensely.


Suddenly I heard the uproar of thousands of voices, and I saw the whole multitude spread out in that vast space at my feet… turn their backs to that spot where, until then, all their expectations had been focused, and look at the sun on the other side.





With all spectators shifting their gaze, Dr. Garrett did the same. He was amazed at what he watched unfold:




I could see the sun, like a very clear disc, with its sharp edge, which gleamed without hurting the sight. It could not be confused with the sun seen through a fog (there was no fog at that moment), for it was neither veiled nor dim.… The most astonishing thing was to be able to stare at the solar disc for a long time, brilliant with light and heat, without hurting the eyes or damaging the retina. The sun’s disc did not remain immobile, it had a giddy motion, not like the twinkling of a star in all its brilliance for it spun round upon itself in a mad whirl.


During the solar phenomenon which I have just described, there were also changes of color in the atmosphere. Looking at the sun, I noticed that everything was becoming darkened. I looked first at the nearest objects and then extended my glance further afield as far as the horizon. I saw everything had assumed an amethyst color. Objects around me, the sky and the atmosphere, were of the same color.…


Then, suddenly, one heard a clamor, a cry of anguish breaking from all the people. The sun, whirling wildly, seemed all at once to loosen itself from the firmament and, blood red, advance threateningly upon the earth as if to crush us with its huge and fiery weight. The sensation during those moments was truly terrible.





As he recorded his account, the professor knew that he now would be among those that nonwitnesses would forever dismiss or disrespect. In affidavit-like language, he sought to assure future readers that he had not been overcome with madness or hysteria:




All the phenomena which I have described were observed by me in a calm and serene state of mind without any emotional disturbance. It is for others to interpret and explain them. Finally, I must declare that never, before or after October 13 [1917], have I observed similar atmospheric or solar phenomena.11





As this testimony suggests, Garrett was no wailing zealot. He was a refined and respected scholar, the son of a prominent Portuguese family. Even as he witnessed something miraculous, he opted to describe it clinically, in the language of a scientist. Not given to hyperbole, he nonetheless saw and reported precisely what countless others attested.


Another hardened skeptic who offered an eyewitness account was Avelino de Almeida, editor in chief of O Seculo, an atheistic, anticlerical newspaper in Lisbon. Almeida had ventured to Fátima with the intent of mocking the wild expectations of the superstitious. He was shocked at what he encountered, which he shared in his newspaper:




One could see the huge crowd turning toward the sun, which, standing at the zenith unobstructed by clouds, looked like a piece of opaque silver. One could gaze at it without the least difficulty. It could have been an eclipse, but all of a sudden there was a great cry, and the nearby spectators started shouting, “A miracle! A miracle!” Before the stupefied eyes of the people, who anxiously peered into the sky with uncovered heads like the multitudes described in the Bible, the sun trembled and darted this way and that. Its brusque movements, which were truly astonishing to behold, defied every known law of astronomy. The sun “danced,” as the people typically put it.





The secular journalist recorded how the people scrambled to assimilate what they had just experienced:




At that point, the witnesses began to ask one another what they had seen. The overwhelming majority claimed to have seen the sun tremble and dance. Others claimed to have seen the face of the Holy Virgin. Still others swore that the sun had spun on its axis like a giant windmill and that it had plummeted downwards as if to scorch the earth with its rays. A few said that they had seen it change several colors in succession.12





Another doubter was the reporter for O Dia, who likewise went to Fátima to debunk the mob’s fanciful claims. Like O Seculo, O Dia was an anticlerical newspaper from Lisbon, the organ of choice for the intelligentsia. O Dia’s readers prided themselves in not smoking the opium of the masses. And yet here is how a chastened O Dia described what was unveiled at Fátima:




The silver-colored sun… was seen to whirl and wheel about in the circle that had opened up among the clouds. The people all shouted in unison and then fell to their knees on the muddy ground.… The light took on a beautiful blue tint, as it does when it filters through a stained-glass window of a cathedral, and it spread over the people, who were kneeling with outstretched hands. As the blue color slowly faded, the light seemed to sweep across the yellow grass.… The people were weeping and praying with uncovered heads in the presence of the miracle for which they had hoped. Each second was so vivid that it seemed like an hour.13





These events lasted several minutes, and they were visible for miles around. The eyewitness testimonies cited here are just a few of many. In fact, as many as seventy-five thousand people witnessed the phenomena of October 13, 1917.14 This was no mass illusion or group hallucination. The sheer volume of witnesses made such a deception impossible. Those witnesses talked, with their many testimonies captured at the time and available for us to read today.15







WHY 1917?


To modern eyes and ears a hundred years later, accounts of what happened at Fátima in 1917 can seem difficult to accept. I understand that. But again, what is important to this story is how these accounts influenced Pope John Paul II and Ronald Reagan and their understanding of the crimes of communism.


When we look at Fátima from that perspective, a few questions arise. First: Why would such a message be delivered at this particular time?


In 1917 the world was three years into the Great War. On June 28, 1914, in Sarajevo, Gavrilo Princip had set this conflict in motion with his shot heard ’round the world, which murdered the pious Austrian archduke and his wife.


On one side of the fight were the Allied Powers, including Russia, Britain, France, Japan, Italy, Belgium, Serbia, Romania, Greece, Portugal, and the United States, the last of which had entered the conflict only a month before the first Marian apparition at Fátima. On the other side were the Central Powers: Germany, Austria-Hungary, the Ottoman Turks, and Bulgaria. How odd it was that Bulgaria and Muslim Turkey, two unlikely allies who had battled one another as recently as the Balkan Wars (1912–13), would team up in this murderous mayhem. It would not be the last time. A Muslim Turk would work with Bulgaria to fire another shot heard ’round the world seven decades later.


The Great War brought with it the horrors of mechanized warfare: tanks, air power, submarines, machine guns with names like “the Devil’s paintbrush,” and poison gas, the largest-scale use of chemical weapons in history. Winding through this agony were death-strewn trenches: thousands of miles of wet, freezing, disease-ridden, lice- and rat-infested tunnels where men lived an awful existence below the earth. The condemned creatures arose from this pit only to be thrust into “no-man’s-land” and enter the human meat grinder.


It was a war that Pope Benedict XV had publicly declared unjust. The pontiff judged that there was no compelling moral justification or imperative dividing the combatants; these countries should not have been on the battlefield.


An atheist-leftist intellectual named Sidney Hook might have best summed up the moral catastrophe when he referred to World War I not as the Great War, or the War to End All Wars, or, in President Woodrow Wilson’s line, the war to “make the world safe for democracy,” but as something considerably less inspiring: World War I was, said Hook, “the second fall of man.”16


Yes, religious metaphor captures it best. The historian Michael Hull, who argues that “the horrors of World War I exceeded those of World War II in terms of the sheer futility of squandered lives,”17 invokes O Cristo das Trincheiras, “The Christ of the Trenches,” as an appropriate symbol for the millions who gave their lives in the war. This life-size statue of Jesus Christ on the cross was erected on the Western Front; Hull describes it as “soiled, bullet-scarred, its legs blown off by shellfire.” Years after the war, the French gave it to the government of Portugal to memorialize the thousands of Portuguese killed at the Battle of Flanders. Today, the Christ of the Trenches looks down on the Tomb of the Portuguese Unknown Soldier at the Priory of Santa Maria da Vitoria (Saint Mary of Victory) in Batalha, Portugal.


This terrible war, this “Great War” in which no great moral issues seemed clear, not only produced millions of dead young men but also led to World War II and the Cold War. The “punitive peace” that the French imposed on the surrendering Germans at the Versailles Conference created the chaotic conditions in Germany that Hitler would exploit in his rise to power. As the British historian A. J. P. Taylor put it, “The first war explains the second and, in fact, caused it, in so far as one event causes another.”18


The First World War also enabled the fall of Czar Nicholas II in Russia. The reasons for the czar’s fall and the takeover by Lenin and his vicious minions are complex, but one thing is certain: it is difficult to imagine the Bolsheviks supplanting the Romanov dynasty if the Russians had not become embroiled in the Great War. The Russian army entered the war with the rest of the Allied Powers in August 1914 but did not finish the fight. Russia experienced more bloodshed than any other combatant, despite withdrawing from the conflict before its conclusion. The Russian economy was devastated, a situation made all the worse by the fact that, having pulled out of the war, Russia would taste no fruits of victory.


More than anything, World War I unleashed death on the twentieth century. Many millions were killed in the Great War, but World War II would dwarf it in deaths, and the Soviet global communist ideology undergirding the Cold War would kill still more.







WHY PORTUGAL?


Another question arises: Why would the Marian apparition occur in Portugal? A few possibilities come to mind.


Portugal was first touched by Christianity some two thousand years ago, as Saint James, one of the original disciples, is said to have traversed its lands.


Many years later, in the eighth century, the Muslim Moors invaded the Iberian Peninsula and subdued the Portuguese and Spanish. Portugal fought back with a decisive victory over the Moors in the 1100s, becoming an independent nation around the year 1143. King Afonso I, Portugal’s first king, secured the victory and gave thanks to the Blessed Virgin Mary. In gratitude, he constructed a glorious church and monastery called the Santa Maria de Alcobaça.


The Portuguese again turned to Mary’s intercession when Spain came demanding territory. In 1385 they thwarted the Spanish. In gratitude to the Blessed Mother, King John I erected the cathedral at Batalha, Saint Mary of Victory.


These were just two of many times that Portugal turned to the Blessed Mother for her intervention before the throne of God. The country would long be known as the Land of Holy Mary, entrusting itself to her for intercession, intervention, protection, and patronage.


This became an even greater imperative for the Portuguese when they came under siege not from vandals at the gate but from inside. In the early 1900s, militant secularists toppled the Portuguese monarch and installed a repressive government that persecuted the Catholic Church specifically and religious people generally. It was one of the darkest periods in Portugal’s long history. The new government implemented a series of anticlerical measures, culminating in the Law of Separation of Church and State in 1911. The architect of that law boasted that “in two generations Catholicism will be completely eliminated in Portugal.”19


In short order, Pope Pius X, who three years later would anguish over his Church’s inability to stop the continent from leaping into the Great War, issued a scathing encyclical condemning Portugal’s Law of Separation, blasting it as “heinous,” “absurd,” and “monstrous,” as an “incredible series of excesses and crimes… enacted in Portugal for the oppression of the Church.” Why, asked Pius X, had the new government “promulgated measures breathing the most implacable hatred of the Catholic religion? We have seen religious communities evicted from their homes, and most of them driven beyond the Portuguese frontiers. We have seen, arising out of an obstinate determination to secularize every civil organization and to leave no trace of religion in the acts of common life, the deletion of the feast days of the Church from the number of public festivals, the abolition of religious oaths, the hasty establishment of the law of divorce and religious instruction banished from the public schools.”20


Pope Pius X gave his statement from Saint Peter’s Basilica in Rome on May 24, 1911, the Feast of Our Lady Mary. He closed by invoking the intercession of Mary, “the Help of Christians.”


The persecution in Portugal was a forerunner of the far more repressive and vile attacks Soviet communism unleashed in October 1917, after the appearances at Fátima. Against those attacks, too, the Church would seek Mary’s intercession.








WHY FÁTIMA?


Still, a question remains: Why the tiny village of Fátima, of all places?


The village was given its name during the Moorish occupation. The name is an Islamic one derived from the much-loved princess of the nearby Castle of Ourem. Like many Muslim girls, the princess was named Fátima after the favorite daughter of Muhammad. Born to Muhammad’s first wife, Khadijah, she stood at her father’s side through his greatest turmoil. Muslims view her as an exemplar. She eventually married Ali ibn Abi Talib, Muhammad’s cousin, and became mother to five of his children. Few men were so influential in Islam as Ali, who was a direct successor to Muhammad. Shiites regard him as the vaunted “First Imam.” Fátima’s spouse and father alone made her extremely influential.


In a quotation that could be apocryphal, Muhammad is alleged to have said of his beloved Fátima, “She has the highest place in heaven after the Virgin Mary.”


Muhammad had a deep love for his daughter and the utmost respect for the Virgin Mary. Mary is the only woman mentioned in the Koran. No woman in the Koran is accorded her respect. Quite the contrary, Sura (chapter) 4 in the Koran, titled “Women,” states, “Men have authority over women because God has made the one superior to the other” (4:34). It continues, “As for those [women] that you fear disobedience, admonish them, forsake them in beds apart, and beat them.” There is no such demeaning language directed at Mary, who occupies her own Sura (19), titled simply “Mary.” She is described as a paragon of purity, a holy virgin who gave birth to Jesus, a man portrayed in the Koran as an exalted prophet, an apostle of God, a “holy son” (19:12–28). Mary is the only woman with a Sura named for her in the Koran; the only men accorded such an honor are Muhammad, Abraham, Noah, Jonah, and Joseph (the Joseph of the Old Testament). In fact, the Koran makes more references to Mary than to almost any man, including Jesus. According to John Esposito, editor of the Oxford Dictionary of Islam, Jesus is mentioned twenty-five times in the Koran. By contrast, according to the scholar Giancarlo Finazzo, the Koran makes thirty-four direct or indirect references to Mary. Finazzo notes, quite remarkably, that the Catholic dogma of the Immaculate Conception seems to be implicitly recognized in certain verses of the Koran, and that certain elements of Muslim tradition speak of her ultimate ascension into heaven (Catholics call this the Assumption of Mary).21


Muslims believe that the Koran is the literal word of God, taken from an eternal book forever coexisting with the Creator. Thus, its words on Mary carry supreme weight. Muslims reject the notion that Jesus is the son of God, and even reject his crucifixion and resurrection. Yet they accept the birth of Jesus as miraculous, the blessed fruit of a virgin mother. The Koran has passages upholding the Nativity and what Catholics call the Annunciation (when the Angel Gabriel announced to Mary that she would conceive and give birth to the Son of God).


One who noticed the Muslim affinity for Mary, and in relation to Fátima specifically, was Bishop Fulton Sheen, the most influential Catholic American of the twentieth century. Sheen titled a chapter “Mary and the Moslems” in his 1952 book, The World’s First Love: Mary, Mother of God. He wrote:




The Koran, which is the Bible of the Moslems, has many passages concerning the Blessed Virgin.… Mary, then, is for the Moslems the true Sayyida, or Lady. The only possible serious rival to her in their creed would be Fátima, the daughter of Mohammed himself. But after the death of Fátima, Mohammed wrote: “Thou shalt be the most blessed of all women in Paradise, after Mary.” In a variant of the text, Fátima is made to say: “I surpass all women, except Mary.”


This brings us to our second point, namely, why the Blessed Mother, in this twentieth century, should have revealed herself in the insignificant little village of Fátima, so that to all future generations she would be known as “Our Lady of Fátima.” Since nothing ever happens out of heaven except with a finesse of all details, I believe that the Blessed Virgin chose to be known as “Our Lady of Fátima” as a pledge and a sign of hope to the Moslem people, and as an assurance that they, who show her so much respect, will one day accept her Divine Son, too.22





As “evidence to support these views,” Sheen pointed to the events that occurred during the longtime Muslim occupation of Portugal. He added: “At the time when they were finally driven out, the last Moslem chief had a beautiful daughter by the name of Fátima. A Catholic boy fell in love with her, and for him she not only stayed behind when the Moslems left, but even embraced the faith.”


That is, the princess, Fátima, herself converted to Catholicism. She married the Count of Ourem in 1158. This is the onetime Muslim princess for whom the town of Fátima was named—the town where Mary repeatedly appeared in 1917.23


As Sheen put it: “The young husband was so much in love with her that he changed the name of the town where he lived to Fátima. Thus the very place where our Lady appeared in 1917 bears a historical connection to Fátima, the daughter of Mohammed.”24


Fulton Sheen was an incredibly influential priest. His books were huge bestsellers, and his widely watched weekly television show won an Emmy Award. Sheen was giving voice to and helping disseminate a fascinating and important message, one that would ultimately touch portions of the Muslim world.


Father Andrew Apostoli, vice postulator for the cause of the canonization of Fulton Sheen, states: “Archbishop Sheen… saw in our Lady’s choice of Fátima a great significance for her message. She did not come down from heaven to the only place in all of Portugal with a Muslim name simply to convert Russia, he said. Unless we have the conversion of hundreds of millions of Muslims, there will never be world peace.”25







THE LEGACY OF FÁTIMA


The accounts of so many who insisted they saw and were transformed by a miracle at Fátima in 1917 influenced countless other believers in the years and decades ahead. The miracle redounded to Pope John Paul II, certainly.


And the extraordinary events at Fátima attracted the interest of a Protestant president of the United States named Ronald Reagan.













2 OCTOBER 26, 1917 THE DEVILS TAKE OVER



The place: Moscow.


The year: 1922.


The scene: a “courtroom” for the Church Trials—a classic Bolshevik show trial.


The purpose: Christianity in the crosshairs.


The courtroom is actually a Moscow museum, the Polytechnic Museum. It is a fitting choice. Museums are for things of the past. And things such as justice and religion are no longer of use in Moscow, where communism is the new arbiter of “truth.” The presiding judge is Comrade Bek. The prosecutors are Comrade Lunin and Comrade Longinov. The man who relates this story decades later, Aleksandr Solzhenitsyn, does not share the first names of this dubious trio of comrades. It does not matter. Their names—and roles and duties—are interchangeable in the Soviet system.1


On trial are seventeen defendants from the Russian Orthodox Church, including the patriarch, archpriests, and laymen, accused of disseminating “propaganda.” In reality, the patriarch has disseminated not propaganda but a proclamation. He told his Orthodox Church officials that the state could not compel the Church to surrender relics, icons, and valuables.


It is the Church’s atheistic accusers who are employing propaganda: the Leninist machine portrays the Church as hoarding riches better served converted into rubles to feed the starving masses. The Bolsheviks do not acknowledge the fact that the people are starving because of communist central planning. “Carrion has become a delicacy for the starving population,” laments Patriarch Tikhon, “but even this ‘delicacy’ is not to be found. The cries and moans are to be heard on all sides. It has even brought cannibalism.” He estimates that thirteen million are suffering.


The Orthodox Church is not hoarding at all; the patriarch offers Church valuables (“rings, chains and bracelets that adorn the holy relics, silver and gold staves”) to help feed the dying, so long as believers donate the valuables voluntarily, not under compulsion by the state.2


But that is not good enough. The Bolsheviks do not want the consent of the religious. They want to coerce the religious. And most of all they want the Church’s “fabulous treasures,” as an aide to Soviet leader Vladimir Lenin hungrily describes them. Leon Trotsky agrees, rubbing his hands together and saying, “The booty is enormous.”3


And so the Church is told that it must give up everything to the state. Right now, without hesitation. The patriarch protests. Such “forced requisition” is “sacrilege,” he says. The Church cannot be compelled to surrender holy objects or materials used to dispense the Eucharist. This is “prohibited by the canons of the Universal Church and is punishable as sacrilege, with excommunication for laymen and expulsion from holy orders for priests.”4


Lenin views Patriarch Tikhon’s resistance as an outrage.5 Seeing Tikhon’s position as a challenge to the Bolshevik regime, he sets forth an official party policy to crush the Church. He instructs Trotsky to have the Politburo ensure that all churches are “cleansed,” or stripped of their riches. He has already called on the Politburo to “shoot ringleaders” and to levy “the death penalty for priests.” Lenin writes: “There is a ninety-nine per cent chance of smashing the enemy on the head with complete success and of guaranteeing positions essential for us for many decades to come.” He drools over the prospect of seizing what he estimates to be “several hundred million gold rubles.”6


And so on May 5—shortly after May Day, the high holy day of international communism—the esteemed patriarch is called to “testify” to his transgressions. Judge Bek bores in. In a tense moment, he asks whether the patriarch believes the all-powerful Soviet government has “acted incorrectly.”


Patriarch Tikhon answers bravely and succinctly: “Yes.”


Comrade Bek is astounded, or at least pretends to be: “Do you consider the state’s laws obligatory or not?” he barks.


“Yes, I recognize them,” answers the Church leader, “to the extent that they do not contradict the rules of piety.”


“Which in the last analysis is more important to you,” the judge asks, “the laws of the Church or the point of view of the Soviet government?” All know the expected reply, but the patriarch is unyielding. Bek pounces: “So that means that we, the representatives of the Soviet government, are thieves of holy things? So you call the representatives of the Soviet government, the All-Russian Central Executive Committee, thieves?!”


The calm patriarch answers, “I am citing only Church law.”


The Soviet “judge” proceeds to lecture the head of the Russian Orthodox Church on a correct understanding of “blasphemy.” The patriarch tells his atheistic expert of an incident at Saint Basil the Great of Caesarea when thugs from the Cheka (Soviet secret police) smashed an icon that would not fit in their box of booty.


Bek calls the old man a liar. After all, the patriarch was not there to see this particular (one of millions) trampling of sacred things by the apostles of Marxism-Leninism. “Who spread that repulsive slander?” Bek shrieks. He wants a name.


Patriarch Tikhon wisely does not name the priest who witnessed the destruction at Saint Basil the Great.


“That means you have made an unsubstantiated assertion,” declares the man with the guns of the totalitarian state behind him.


After several minutes more of this, the “jury” orders criminal charges against the patriarch. He is arrested and removed from office. He is permitted to keep his life, but only because the Bolsheviks find his suffering more useful to their aims. He will not live more than a few years anyway, ultimately succumbing on the feast day of the Annunciation in the Orthodox Church. By that point he is a broken man living under house arrest.7


The Soviets deem the lesser-ranking men under the patriarch to be more expendable. On May 7, Judge Bek’s tribunal pronounces its sentence: of the seventeen defendants, eleven are to be shot.8


There is no need for witnesses.


To be fair to Bek and crew, this is rather mild behavior for the Bolsheviks. Three years earlier, Lenin issued a stern order: to kill anyone who dared to observe Christmas. The man who had declared, “There can be nothing more abominable than religion,”9 wrote the following on December 25, 1919: “To put up with ‘Nikola’ [the religious holiday] would be stupid—the entire Cheka must be on the alert to see to it that those who do not show up for work because of ‘Nikola’ are shot.”10


No mercy. No exceptions.


In effect, Lenin and his disciples will spend the next seven decades doing just that to the religious: murdering them.


A Lady in Fátima saw it coming.




BAPTISMS AND PERSECUTIONS


At the time of Patriarch Tikhon’s persecution in the Moscow Church Trials, Ronald Reagan was an eleven-year-old boy in Dixon, Illinois, one who had just been baptized by total immersion in the fount at the Disciples of Christ church on South Hennepin Avenue. Karol Wojtyła, nine years younger than Reagan, had been recently baptized as well, though by sprinkling, and as an infant. We will pick up those periods in the two men’s lives in the next chapter. For now, let us go back to 1917, when the most dismal of the Fátima prophecies was almost immediately realized.


On October 24, 1917,11 the Bolshevik Revolution began. Two days later the All-Russian Congress of Soviets officially handed power to a Soviet Council of People’s Commissars, whose chairman was Vladimir Lenin. Lenin, Trotsky, and other top Bolsheviks assumed their positions in the new governing regime. Now the whole world would see the bruteness of their ideology.


Lenin hated Christianity. Raised by devout Christian parents, he bragged that as a teen he took off the cross that hung around his neck and tossed it in the rubbish. Speaking on behalf of his comrades and their state, Lenin affirmed unequivocally, “We do not believe in God.”12 They made that disbelief abundantly clear.


There would be no greater foe to religion than atheistic communism. As Marxism-Leninism spread around the world, so did religious repression—into Central and Eastern Europe, Asia, Africa, and the Western Hemisphere. The repression continues to this day, in communist countries like China, North Korea, and Cuba, a tragic legacy of a revolution launched a century ago.


“All the biblical descriptions of hell and the pains of Dante’s Inferno are nothing in comparison with the tortures in Communist prisons,” the Reverend Richard Wurmbrand told the U.S. Senate Internal Security Subcommittee in 1966.13 Wurmbrand, the author of the international bestseller Tortured for Christ, spent years in Romanian prisons, where communist authorities tortured him and screamed at him that they were the devil. His communist captors relished the pain they inflicted.


Wurmbrand’s experiences were hardly unique. Communist governments targeted people of all faiths—Protestants, Catholics, Jews, Muslims, Buddhists, whomever.14 They were equal-opportunity discriminators. For every tortured Richard Wurmbrand in Romania, there was a Cardinal Mindszenty in Hungary, a Cardinal Wyszyński in Poland, a Bishop Bossilkov in Bulgaria, a Cardinal Stepinac in Yugoslavia, a Natan Sharansky or Walter Ciszek in Russia, a Vasyl Velychkovsky or Severian Baranyk or Zenobius Kovalyk in Ukraine, a Moaddedi clan in Afghanistan, a Methodist missionary or follower of the Dalai Lama in China, a jailed nun in Cuba, a Buddhist monk forced to renounce his vows in Pol Pot’s Cambodia. Whether the despot was Pol Pot or Fidel Castro or Joseph Stalin, the sentiment was the same: “Religion is poison,” as Mao Tse-tung reportedly told the Dalai Lama. Communists quibbled over how to implement Marx’s vision, but they were unanimous in one thing: religion was the enemy, and it had to be vanquished.15


The roots of this long “war on religion” (as Mikhail Gorbachev would later describe it) reside in the perverse ideology of Marxism-Leninism, and specifically the Bolshevik takeover of Russia. Lenin’s coup, in which the Bolsheviks murdered the (very pious) Romanov family, changed history forever.


Karl Marx had dubbed religion the “opiate of the masses” and insisted that “Communism begins where atheism begins.”16 In the Communist Manifesto, Marx wrote, “Communism abolishes eternal truths, it abolishes all religion, and all morality.”17


Lenin went further. “All worship of a divinity is a necrophilia,” he said.18 In a November 1913 letter, the Bolshevik godfather wrote that “any religious idea, any idea of any God at all, any flirtation even with a God is the most inexpressible foulness… the most dangerous foulness, the most shameful ‘infection.’ ” Scholar James Thrower says that with “infection,” Lenin was referring to venereal disease.19


Under the Bolsheviks, atheism became the official state belief. Lenin and his underlings promoted it relentlessly. They spearheaded the creation of groups like the Society of the Godless, also known as the League of the Militant Godless.20 They wanted Marxism-Leninism to replace the Russian Orthodox Church and all other conventional faiths; it became the new civil religion.


The Bolsheviks forbade religious instruction to anyone under eighteen years of age, and children were encouraged to turn in parents who taught anything about God. Marriage became a strictly civil, secular ceremony; weddings, baptisms, and funerals were converted into bizarre “communist” ceremonies.21 The Russian Orthodox Church’s long-standing prohibition against divorce was lifted, leading to an explosion in divorce rates and havoc upon the Russian family.22 Lenin made good on his June 1913 promise to secure an “unconditional annulment of all laws against abortions.”23 By 1920, abortion was legal and free of charge to Russian women. The number of abortions skyrocketed to levels still unmatched in human history.24


The new Soviet authority confiscated all of the Russian Orthodox Church’s land and buildings, which the Church had owned for centuries. Lenin’s cronies destroyed churches or reconstituted them as communist clubs, workshops, storage houses, offices, and atheistic museums.25 The Church of the Archangel Michael, a beautiful old church crowned with ornate cupolas on the southwest edge of Moscow, was used to store grain.26 Of the 657 churches that existed in Moscow on the eve of the 1917 revolution, only 100 to 150 remained by 1976, according to official Soviet statistics. Of those, the Moscow Russian Orthodox Patriarchy said only 46 still held services.27 Full-time, state-employed “church watchers” reported anyone who came to the church to pray.


The USSR was a huge country that spanned twelve time zones. The Orthodox Church alone had more than 40,000 churches and some 150,000 priests, monks, deans, and bishops.28 Lenin ordered the shootings of an estimated 14,000 to 20,000 clergy and active laymen.29 Recalcitrant priests and nuns who weren’t executed would be carted to Siberia. Nuns were deliberately housed in special sections of the gulag with prostitutes.30 They were seen as “whores to Christ.”


Russian churches held holy relics, gems, icons, statues, and precious stones, all of which carried liturgical and sacramental value. The Bolsheviks saw only a financial value—hence the forced confiscation that Patriarch Tikhon resisted in the Moscow Church Trials. Their total haul from the churches is unknown, but one internal list of what they took prior to November 1, 1922, recorded 1,220 pounds of gold; 828,275 pounds of silver; 35,670 diamonds; 536 pounds of gemstones; 3,115 gold rubles; 19,155 silver rubles; 1,902 “various precious objects”; and 71,762 unspecified valuables.31


The Soviets completely destroyed the Catholic Church in their country. Unlike some other churches in the Soviet Union, Catholicism was not permitted to reestablish a central apparatus after World War II, most likely because its leadership (located in Rome) could not be controlled by Moscow. Writing in the mid-1970s, the scholar Gerhard Simon reported that there was not a single Catholic monastery, convent, school, or welfare institution left in the entire USSR.32


Imagine, then, how the Soviets felt in October 1978 when the Roman Catholic Church chose the first Slavic pope ever, and a persecuted Pole no less. It is no exaggeration to say that the Soviet leadership was so livid that it wanted the man dead.







EXPORTING COMMUNISM


Karl Marx had called for global revolution, for workers of the world to unite. The Bolsheviks almost immediately set to work exporting their revolution internationally.


In the first week of March 1919, a gathering of the Marxist faithful convened in Moscow. They formed a congress of fifty-two dedicated comrades from Russia, Austria, the Balkans, Britain, China, France, Germany, Hungary, Switzerland, and the United States.33 The largest delegation, from Bolshevik Russia, included Lenin, Trotsky, Joseph Stalin, Nikolai Bukharin, and Grigori Zinoviev.34 It was the First Congress of the Communist International, the so-called Comintern.


Lenin welcomed the assembled on March 2, 1919, by saying: “On behalf of the Central Committee of the Russian Communist Party I declare the First Congress of the Communist International open.… Comrades, our gathering has great historic significance.”35 He continued: “The bourgeois are terror-stricken at the growing workers’ revolutionary movement. This is understandable if we take into account that the development of events since the imperialist war [World War I] inevitably favors the workers’ revolutionary movement, and that the world revolution is beginning and growing in intensity everywhere.”


Speaking of the “greatness and significance of the struggle now going on,” Lenin spoke glowingly of “the Soviet system with the dictatorship of the proletariat.” This is what Marx had envisioned, and Lenin loved the concept. He repeated the phrase for emphasis: “Dictatorship of the proletariat—until now these words were Latin to the masses. Thanks to the spread of the Soviets throughout the world this Latin has been translated into all modern languages; a practical form of dictatorship has been found by the working people. The mass of workers now understand it thanks to Soviet power in Russia.… Victory will be ours, the victory of the worldwide Communist revolution is assured.”


The international objectives of the Comintern were self-evident from its title. The communists underscored their objective with other names they gave the Comintern: Trotsky, for instance, described it as the “General Staff of the World Revolution.”36


The Comintern was centralized under Moscow leadership, which was to have “uncontested authority” over the other communist parties that would soon be established all over the world, including in America.37 By 1919, already impressed with the “dizzying speed” of this movement’s advances, Grigori Zinoviev, the first head of the Comintern, confidently predicted that “in a year all Europe shall be communist. And the struggle for communism shall be transferred to America, and perhaps Asia and other parts of the world.”38


The Comintern made clear that members of foreign communist parties—from Europe to America—who did not obey Moscow, “who reject in principle the conditions and theses put forward by the Communist International, are to be expelled from the party.… Every party which wishes to join the Communist International is obligated to give unconditional support to any Soviet republic in its struggle against counter-revolutionary forces.”39


Here we see the pattern established early on: members of communist parties around the world, including in the United States, would see themselves as loyal Soviet patriots.


Among these patriots who saluted the red flag were members of the American Communist Party, founded in Chicago in September 1919, only six months after the Comintern was founded. The American Communist Party would ultimately take the name Communist Party USA (CPUSA) and would be the political party for American communists throughout the Cold War.40 It cannot be emphasized enough that American members of the Communist Party saw themselves as subservient to the Comintern and to Moscow. Herbert Romerstein, a former communist who became one of America’s leading authorities on domestic communism, noted that “from 1919, when [CPUSA] was formed, to 1989, when the Soviet Union collapsed, it was under total Soviet control.”41


Members of Communist Party USA swore a loyalty oath to Moscow, which stated: “I pledge myself to rally the masses to defend the Soviet Union, the land of victorious socialism. I pledge myself to remain at all times a vigilant and firm defender of the Leninist line of the party, the only line that insures the triumph of Soviet Power in the United States.” This particular oath was issued in 1935, during Stalin’s Great Purge, which annihilated tens of millions.42


By the time the Comintern Congress met for a second time, in July 1920, the communists had agitated uprisings in Germany, Finland, Hungary, and Poland. Lenin, Trotsky, Bukharin, and Zinoviev proclaimed that “world Civil War” was the “watchword” and “the order of the day.”43 The Congress stated explicitly, “The Communist International has declared war on the entire bourgeois world.”44







GERMANY’S COMMUNISTS TAKE THEIR SHOTS


In his welcoming remarks at the First Comintern Congress, Lenin had been especially excited about prospects for communism in Germany, the home of Marx. “In Germany,” he cheered, “civil war is a fact.” He said: “Comrades, I think that after the events in Russia and the January struggle in Germany, it is especially important to note that in other countries, too, the latest form of the workers’ movement is asserting itself and getting the upper hand.… The Soviet system has triumphed not only in backward Russia, but also in the most developed country of Europe—in Germany, and in Britain, the oldest capitalist country.”45


Emboldened by the success of Comrade Lenin in Russia, Germany’s communists in March 1919 attempted to take over the emerging Weimar Republic. On March 3, Germany’s communists seized Berlin. On April 4, a communist cabal seized the government in Munich and declared Bavaria a separate Soviet republic, the so-called Bavarian Soviet Republic (or Munich Soviet Republic). These Marxists immediately began expropriating property, factories, businesses, capital, and forming a “Red Army.” Under advisement from Lenin, they seized certain useful individuals as hostages; other political elites who stood in their way were summarily executed.


Postwar Germany was in the throes of revolution. The “punitive peace” negotiated at Versailles at the end of World War I had destroyed Germany’s industry, agriculture, and economy generally. Mass starvation seemed likely. Extreme factions were emerging: Germany seemed to face the bleak possibility of a fascist future or a communist one.


Caught up in these political currents was a young Italian archbishop named Eugenio Pacelli, who would play a pivotal role in the battle against Marxism-Leninism.


On May 13, 1917—the exact date of the first Marian apparition at Fátima—Pacelli was consecrated as archbishop in the Sistine Chapel with the blessing of Pope Benedict XV. Soon thereafter, Pacelli began a long period as papal nuncio to Germany. Pope Benedict needed a steady diplomatic hand; really, the job required an almost saintly presence, given the tensions. Pacelli was ideal. The British envoy to the Holy See, Sir Henry Howard, called the choice of Pacelli “a dreadful loss for our British mission to the Vatican, for he is the one man who can be trusted implicitly; however, it is also consoling that there should be such an honest man at Munich at present.”46


It was consoling to everyone but Germany’s communists. In December 1918, Pacelli took to the pulpit of a major cathedral in Munich to denounce communism. The archbishop expressed contempt for what he dubbed “the monstrous face of communism.”47


Pacelli roamed the Bavarian countryside ministering to the poor and homeless. He walked up to barricades manned by armed and desperate men, opened his cloak, and calmly displayed his pectoral cross. They would soften and welcome him. He felt protected by the love and force of the cross.48


For this effrontery, Pacelli found himself on the receiving end of a communist smear campaign—the first of many. They spread lies about him to further their agenda, for as Vladimir Lenin had said, the only morality that communists recognized was that which furthered their interests. “We repudiate all morality that proceeds from supernatural ideas that are outside class conceptions,” said Lenin, who included Christian morality among those “supernatural ideas” they firmly rejected. “Morality is entirely subordinate to the interests of class war. Everything is moral that is necessary for the annihilation of the old exploiting social order and for uniting the proletariat.”49 (Lenin’s words would be quoted often by a future American president named Ronald Reagan, who understood the gravity of their implications.)50


The communists also threatened Archbishop Pacelli with physical violence. The threats intensified when communists took over the government in April 1919.51


Most diplomats fled Munich once the communists had control, but not Pacelli. He announced that he was staying at his post. For this, the archbishop would be directly targeted.


Returning one day from a visit to a downtrodden section of Munich, Pacelli was shaken to discover that the ground floor of the Nunciature had been riddled with bullets. The windows were shattered and the façade pockmarked by bullets from machine guns. Presumably, these bullets were intended for him.


That afternoon, while sitting in his office, he heard a crash below. He went into the hall to find it filled with an angry mob armed with butcher knives and Luger automatics. The voices went silent as Pacelli, a tall figure dressed in black with a violet sash around his waist and a glistening cross on his chest, very deliberately walked toward them. Speaking in German, the Italian calmly told them: “You must leave here. This house does not belong to the Bavarian government but to the Holy See. It is inviolable under international law.”


One voice yelled: “What do we care for the Holy See? We’ll leave if you show us your secret store of money and food.”


Pacelli told them that he had given all his money and food to the city’s poor. “That’s a lie!” shouted one of the communists. Others insisted Pacelli was telling the truth.


The Marxist ringleader threw his heavy gun at Pacelli, striking him in the chest. The firearm hit so hard that it dented the jeweled cross that covered his heart. Pacelli put his hand on his chest but stood his ground, gazing upon the snarling faces with sorrow. The silenced mob slowly withdrew.


Pacelli never understood why the man hurled his gun rather than firing it. One biographical account speculated that perhaps the gun was out of ammunition, or perhaps a remnant of grace prohibited the man from killing a priest bedecked in the armor of Christ. Years later Pacelli would lend the cross to Bishop Fulton Sheen.


As soon as the mob left, the nuncio telephoned the “Central Soviet” in Munich to demand the protection that his Nunciature deserved by international law. But communists had no interest in honoring any agreement contrary to their interests. “We are violating the agreement,” Lenin once said of the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk. “We’ve already violated it thirty or forty times.” The voice on the receiving end of Pacelli’s phone call told him: “You’d better get out of town!”52


Pacelli refused to obey communist orders. He would not leave.


The targeting continued. A few days after the incident at the Nunciature, Pacelli went to the Frauenplatz to meet with another archbishop. He traveled by car. Biographers Alden Hatch and Seamus Walshe described in detail what happened after the meeting:




It was almost twilight when [Pacelli] started home, with a gray mist blowing off the River Isar. The streets were filled with sullen groups of men, glaring at the car. As it turned into the Maximilianstrasse along the embankment of the river, the groups coalesced into a mob, shouting threats and blasphemies. The car came to a dead stop, and the mob pressed against it, shaking it with their fury, threatening to overturn it. Inside, Pacelli said to his driver, “Put down the top.”


The man looked at him as though he had gone mad, crying, “Nein! Nein!”


“Do as I say. Put it down.”


The frightened driver, fumbling with the catches and straps, finally got the top down. The Archbishop stood up in the tonneau and then on the back seat so that even those at the farthest misty fringes of the crowd could see him. In his purple cloak, he was a shining target for any Communist with sufficient courage of his convictions to shoot.


None did. Instead a weird silence fell, and Pacelli’s voice, high and clear, spoke to them: “My mission is peace,” he said. “The only weapon that I carry is this holy cross. I do no harm to you, but only good things. Why should you harm me?


Then raising his right hand in the immemorial gesture, he bestowed on them his blessing in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost.


There was not a sound from that great crowd as he sat down, and a lane opened magically for his car to pass on.53





Pacelli had escaped, but the communists were not finished with him. One day the little-known archbishop who blessed the communists from his attacked car in Munich would be known to the world as Pope Pius XII. The communists had yet more persecution planned for this shepherd of the Church, his flock, and the world. Such persecutions would be part of the long litany of communist “errors” and evils that the Lady at Fátima had predicted.













3 MAY 1920–JUNE 1922 A BIRTH IN POLAND AND A REBIRTH IN THE MIDWEST



As communism was on the rise in Russia and spreading throughout the world, glimmers of hope emerged in the most unlikely places—in tiny, remote towns with names like Wadowice and Dixon, in countries as distant as Poland and America.


There, in these vastly different but in some ways strikingly similar places, two boys were being molded, two who would decades later emerge as happy warriors to battle communism.


They spoke different languages, but they were raised in a common language of sorts, a shared Christian faith, a common understanding of what was right and what was wrong. They were raised to have courage, to have hope, to have conviction, to do the right thing, to be not afraid, and to never compromise with the forces of evil.





A BIRTH IN POLAND


On May 18, 1920, in Wadowice, Poland, in an apartment comprising two rooms and a kitchen in the second floor of a house across the street from Saint Mary’s Church, a baby boy named Karol Józef Wojtyła was born to Emilia Kaczorowska Wojtyła and the senior Karol Wojtyła. Known to friends as “Lolek,” the helpless infant would one day rise to greatness. He would become known to the world as Saint Pope John Paul II.


According to at least one report, the birth of the future pontiff almost never happened. Karol Wojtyła’s mother was in such precarious health that her doctor advised her not to continue her pregnancy. “You have to have an abortion,” the doctor told her flatly. The physician warned Emilia that her own life was at stake and that she should save herself rather than her child. Emilia chose otherwise. As the Vatican Insider interpreted this account, “Blessed John Paul II was in danger of not being born.”1 The claim is reasonable, at the very least because Emilia’s previous child died shortly after birth, and because she herself was often frail and sickly.


Healthy and strong as an ox, the child was baptized on June 20 by Father Franciszek Zak at Saint Mary’s Church. In that same church the boy would find his first altar call. The altar boy’s proud mother would tell her neighbors, “You’ll see, my Lolek will be a great man someday.”2


Part of that call to greatness would be to redeem an enemy encroaching Poland the year of his birth. That summer, Lenin’s Red Army was advancing toward Warsaw. With some five million Russian forces approaching, it appeared that the Bolsheviks were about to establish in Poland a beachhead to support communist revolutions in Germany, Hungary, Romania, and the Baltic states. Remarkably, a much smaller Polish force stopped them. The British general and military historian J. F. C. Fuller ranked the Polish victory at the Battle of Warsaw decisive in halting the spread of communism. His fellow historian A. J. P. Taylor agreed that a Bolshevik victory would have “largely determined the course of European history for the next twenty years or more.” Historian Timothy Snyder states that the Polish victory “brought an end to hopes for a European socialist revolution” and limited Bolshevism to a “state ideology” rather than a wider armed revolution that would conquer Europe, as Lenin had so badly desired. As my Grove City College colleague Dr. Robert Clemm puts it, “Were it not for the Polish victory, the Soviet domination of Eastern Europe might have occurred 25 years earlier.”3


Clemm says that only a “near-miracle defense around Warsaw” had pushed backed the Bolsheviks.4 Poles called the victory the “Miracle on the Vistula,” because the turning point came at the Vistula River on August 15, the Feast Day of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary. Poles to this day mark August 15 as a special day of victory against the Bolsheviks with the aid of heaven.5


Proud Poland repelled the Soviet Comintern. The next time it would not be so lucky. In the late 1940s the nation would fall to the Red Army occupiers and remain under Soviet control for more than forty years. A great man from Poland would someday be the moral counterforce to drive them out.


Emilia was right: Her Lolek would be a great man someday.


A sister who preceded Lolek died in infancy. Some sources list her as Olga, though there are little to no records of her birth or baptism. There was a brother, Edmund, nicknamed Mundek, fourteen years Lolek’s senior. Lolek was close to Edmund, admiring the impressive young man—athletic, smart, handsome, charming, popular.


From 1924 to 1929, when Lolek was a boy, Edmund attended Jagiellonian University in Kraków, where he earned a degree in medicine. He practiced as a doctor. Tragically, during an epidemic of scarlet fever in the winter of 1932, he contracted the disease from a patient. He died on December 5. Dr. Edmund Wojtyła was only twenty-six, with a promising life ahead of him. Karol was twelve. The loss staggered him.6


Three years earlier, Karol had lost his mother. Emilia passed away on April 13, 1929, from kidney and congestive heart failure. Little Karol was not even nine. He was in school when he learned of her death. She was forty-five years old.


Not much is known about Emilia, including the precise reasons for her decline. John Paul II would say and write little of her. He loved her, and missed her, and would for the remainder of his life keep a small wedding portrait of his mother and father near his bed, including at his papal residence in Castel Gandolfo, but he admitted having few memories of his mother. He said he did not have a “clear awareness of her contribution” to his faith, though he conceded that her input “must have been great.”7


He was certain about the impact of Emilia’s surviving partner. Born July 18, 1879, five years prior to Emilia’s birth, the senior Karol was a highly respected captain in the military who gave nearly thirty years of service to his country. He was admired by his underlings for his unimpeachable integrity. By no means wealthy, he retired with a military pension that allowed him and his only remaining family member to live a decent existence (until the war).


Young Karol’s father became the boy’s pillar of faith. They read Scripture together, prayed together, did the rosary together. And beyond that direct instruction, the son imbibed the image of the father often on his knees silently praying, a “man of constant prayer.” Every day of his long life, Karol would recite a prayer he had learned from his dad.8 The future priest of the universal Church, the leader of every Catholic seminarian, described his father as his “first seminary,” and his father’s house as “a kind of domestic seminary.”9


His father did his best to compensate for the hole left by Karol’s mother. In her portrait of John Paul II’s life, Peggy Noonan writes that the elder Karol would take his son to Marian shrines as if to tell him, “This now is your mother.”10 And so she was.


Father and son were alone now. They moved their beds closer together to make up for a home suddenly less full of life.


Karol made his first Holy Communion at age nine, about the time of Emilia’s death. He was very athletic, swimming, hiking, running, playing soccer; he was an especially talented soccer goalie. In playing these games, he had regular contact with Wadowice’s large Jewish community. Jews lived in safety and happiness in Catholic Poland, unlike almost anywhere else outside Palestine. School soccer games were sometimes organized between teams of Jews and Catholics, and Karol often played on the Jewish side.


Karol’s kinship with the Jewish people lasted a lifetime. Some sources maintain that his first love affair was with a Jewish girl named Ginka Beer, remembered as “slender” with “stupendous dark eyes and jet black hair.” Friends recall her being a “superb actress,” which would have made her even more attractive to Karol, who loved to act and apparently was quite skilled at it.11 He considered a career in acting.


Karol had his share of drama in real life, including personal flirtations with death. When he was around fifteen years old, a friend playfully pointed a gun at him, not realizing it was loaded. The gun fired and narrowly missed the future pride of Poland and shepherd of the universal Church.12 He would escape other near-death incidents.







A REBIRTH IN THE MIDWEST


Thousands of miles west, in another second-floor apartment, a young American boy rounded out another family of four: mom, dad, older brother. Not long after Karol Wojtyła was baptized, young Ronald Wilson Reagan became a Christian, and that rebirth would change his life, his plans, and history.


Whereas Wojtyła had been baptized as an infant, Reagan’s christening came in 1922, when he was eleven. His christening was the product not of a father strong in the faith but of a father (likewise Catholic) not nearly so.


Jack Reagan was a shoe salesman with a habit of chasing rainbows, and abusing alcohol. The exact contours of that latter “sickness,” as his wife charitably described it, is a matter of dispute. Reagan biographers have flatly called Jack a “drunk,” an “alcoholic.” Official Reagan biographer Edmund Morris characterized Jack as a “binge drinker.”13 Ronald’s older brother, Neil, a reliable source on the subject, maintained that Jack was “a drinker,” but not “as serious” as people have suggested.14


Let us agree it was a weakness. And not Jack’s only weakness.


Jack uprooted the family at every turn. Throughout Ronald’s childhood, his family never owned a home, always wayfaring to the next barely affordable rental. Ronald would live in thirty-seven different residences throughout his life, with the majority coming before he left home permanently as an adult.15 Baby Ronald, born February 6, 1911, in an apartment above a bank in Tampico, Illinois, lived in his first home only four months.


In one of these early moves, the Reagans left Chicago for yet another new job for Jack, this time selling shoes at a store in Galesburg, Illinois. Ronald had a kind of epiphany as a five-year old in Galesburg. Wrestling with the loneliness of a little boy who had just moved to a third new town in five years, he ventured alone to the attic. The previous tenant had left behind a large collection of bird’s eggs and butterflies enclosed in glass. The curious boy escaped into the attic for hours at a time, “marveling at the rich colors of the eggs and the intricate and fragile wings of the butterflies.” “The experience,” Reagan remembered, “left me with a reverence for the handiwork of God that never left me.” These wonderments were like “gateways.” The notion of a Creator was etched into the boy’s consciousness.


Reagan many years later thanked that previous tenant as “an anonymous benefactor to whom I owe much.” This pivotal rendezvous with the Creator was Jack’s inadvertent doing.


Another foible of Jack’s may have indirectly contributed to Ronald’s turn to God as well. It was a brisk February evening in 1922, shortly after Ronald turned eleven years old. The family was now in Dixon, the latest new town, a warm, welcoming place that, mercifully, would become the Reagan family’s hometown throughout the 1920s. Young Reagan had just strolled up the 800 block of South Hennepin Avenue, returning from a basketball game at the YMCA. He knew that his mother was out on a sewing job, doing her part to alleviate the Reagan family’s chronic financial woes. Like Emilia Wojtyła, Nelle Reagan did part-time work as a seamstress to help the family.


The young Reagan expected to come home to an empty house. Instead, he was shaken by the sight of his father passed out on the front porch, flat on his back, freezing, too inebriated to have made it to the door.


“He was drunk,” his son later remembered. “Dead to the world.”


The boy leaned over and smelled the whiskey escaping his dad’s long snores. Jack’s hair was soaked with melted snow, matted unevenly against the side of his reddened face. His arms were stretched out, recalled his son, “as if he were crucified—as indeed he was.”


He had been taken by the “dark demon in the bottle.”


The boy stood over his father, unsure how to react. He wanted simply to let himself in the door, go to bed, and pretend his dad was not there. But the neighbors would see him lying there.


And so Ronald grabbed a fistful of the old man’s overcoat and heaved him. He dragged him into the house and to the bedroom, out of the way of the weather’s harm and neighbors’ attention. It was a sad moment for father and son. The young Reagan felt no anger, no resentment, just grief. This was the man who until that point had always carried him.


When this happened, the eleven-year-old was at a crucial time in his spiritual development. Four months later he told his mother that he wanted to be baptized, born again, starting life anew as a child of God, the son of an infinitely more reliable Father.


The lingering thought of his earthly father sprawled spread-eagle in the snow remained in Reagan’s mind throughout his life. Seventy years later, in his eighties, after being president of the United States for two intense terms, he still remembered that moment in the snow as if it were yesterday.







JACK AND NELLE’S SON


Ronald Reagan’s parents were John Edward Reagan (born July 13, 1883) and Nelle Clyde Wilson Reagan (born July 24, 1883), called Jack and Nelle by their friends and their children (at the parents’ request). They were born within eleven days of each other, in the same small town of Fulton, Illinois.


Jack was a first-generation Irish American. His family came to America thanks to the efforts of Michael Reagan, Ronald’s great-grandfather and an Irish Catholic. Nelle was a blend of Irish, Scottish, and English. At the age of twenty-one, they were married on a fall day in November 1904 at the Catholic Church of the Immaculate Conception in Fulton.16 Yes, Ronald Reagan’s parents were married in a Catholic church, and one named for the Immaculate Conception of the Blessed Virgin—one of so many Marian profundities that would occur in the long life of their son.


Getting married in a Catholic church was apparently not a big deal to the Protestant Nelle. Her devoutness came later. But when it came, it roared. Nelle would find Jesus at a Christian revival well after her marriage. From there, the spiritual paths of her and Jack departed markedly.


The exact level of Jack’s faith is, like his drinking, a matter of dispute. It is also, like his drinking, a frequent subject for disparagement. By most accounts, Jack was a lukewarm or apathetic Catholic. In a typical judgment, Edmund Morris called him a “lapsed Catholic.”17


For years I have attempted to pin down Jack’s faith, asking about it anytime I speak to anyone from Dixon, especially those who might have had family and friends who knew Jack. It is a frustrating subject, though I learned this much:


Jack attended Saint Patrick’s Catholic Church at 612 Highland Avenue in Dixon and was a member there. He usually went to Mass with his son Neil, whereas Ronald attended the Disciples of Christ church with his mother. I was also told that Neil, even though he had been baptized with Ronald at the Disciples of Christ church in the summer of 1922, soon converted to the Catholic Church so fully that he took First Communion at Saint Patrick’s Church in 1928.18 Neil would never regret that move, becoming a devout Catholic whose faith only intensified in the decades ahead.


It is hard to imagine that a “lukewarm” Jack would have had no effect on Neil’s strong turn to the Catholic Church.19 I also learned that both Neil and Jack were active together in the Knights of Columbus.20 In fact, Jack had been involved with the Knights in Tampico, Illinois, the little town where Ronald was born.21 A member of the Dixon Council of the Knights told me that contemporaneous newspaper accounts confirm Jack’s presence at Knights events. As for Neil, the Dixon Council retains records proving that Neil was a formal member and in fact an officer (or “warden”).22 The Dixon Council forwarded my inquiry on Jack to the national office of the Knights of Columbus in New Haven, Connecticut, which told me that it could find no record of Jack’s being a formal member.23


Regardless of whether he was an official member, Jack was at least involved with the Knights in his local parishes.


Several Dixon sources over the years have described Jack’s Mass attendance to me as “irregular,” though their sources are word of mouth. Unlike with Nelle, there are no, say, Sunday school classes with extant records showing Jack’s attendance at Saint Patrick’s.24 Ronald Reagan himself in his postpresidential memoirs said that his father’s “attendance at Catholic Mass was sporadic,” whereas his mother “seldom missed Sunday services at the Disciples of Christ church in Dixon.”25


It is odd that Ronald Reagan, who as president would be surrounded by devout Catholics with whom he tried to change the world, was as a youth surrounded by a father who reportedly displayed a distinct lack of devout Catholicism. That said, the religious split in young Reagan’s household taught him something significant that he would retain all the way to the White House: to respect and love both Catholics and Protestants. This would serve him well, including in his meetings many years later with Karol Wojtyła.







“SAINT” NELLE


It was really Nelle Reagan who was the faith leader in the household, which Jack happily accepted (if not delegated).26 She was a model of Christian virtue. It was only natural that her son Ronald gravitated toward her faith.


Pivotal to young Reagan’s formation was the First Christian Church in Dixon. He acquired his faith there, under the nurturing of an exceptional pastor named Ben Cleaver and, most of all, under Nelle.27


The ways that Nelle influenced young Reagan are numerous, but chief among them was in instilling the conviction that God guided him along a preordained path that was just and right. This made Reagan confidently optimistic throughout his life. In Reagan’s own words, Nelle taught him that “all things were part of God’s Plan, even the most disheartening setbacks, and in the end, everything worked out for the best.”28 He never abandoned that belief. For Reagan, this became a consuming “Divine Plan” personal theology. It convinced him, beyond any doubt and despite any setbacks from childhood to adulthood, that God allows bad things to happen so good things can come from them.


Whereas Jack Reagan’s involvement in his son’s faith may have been unintentional, Nelle’s was deliberate. She chose the Disciples of Christ denomination. The group first met in the basement of the town’s YMCA until it could raise funds for a building. The new First Christian Church opened at 123 South Hennepin on June 18, 1922.


Nelle became a pillar in the local church. Aside from the minister, she was maybe its most visible face. One of the congregation’s fourteen officers, she wore multiple hats, including directing the choir and the missionary society. The vigorous congregation boasted more than a dozen Sunday school classes each week, with Nelle’s True Blue class the largest.29 It was said that if Nelle had had the education, she would have taken the pulpit.30 Surely in today’s era she would have attended seminary.


Nelle’s thoughts and works were fixed heavenward. She was a firm believer in the power of prayer. She led prayer meetings at church and was a “leader” with four other women who provided “home prayer services.”31 She often offered a hand to other churches in the area.32


“Lemme tell you,” one Dixon resident commented, “Nelle was a saint.” That was not a rare sentiment. “If there is such a thing as a saint on earth, it is Nelle Reagan,” said another. Yet another observer agreed: “Nelle was too good for this world.”33 One member of the congregation called Nelle a “leader” whom “everybody loved.”34


Some even claimed that Nelle Reagan’s connection to God was so close, so unique, that her prayers on several occasions healed people of serious sicknesses.35 Even the cynical Edmund Morris could not avoid reporting that friends and associates saw Nelle as a living “saint” with “divine powers” capable of “healing the sick.” “Nelle,” the afflicted would say, “will take care of us.”36


From his mother, Reagan learned the power of prayer and the desire to seek it at any time, from childhood to adulthood, from a seat at the dinner table to the seat of world power. From Nelle he also acquired his mystical streak, which stayed with him throughout his life, and which his secular critics enjoyed mocking. A fellow mystic who would not have found it laughable was Karol Wojtyła.


In short, Nelle Reagan was a central figure in her church and in her community, and her influence, and her insistence that her son attend church regularly, helped to define Ronald Reagan’s spirituality. She gave him a solid foundation in the Christian faith—one that never left him.








MOTHERS


But it almost was not so. In one of so many intriguing parallels in the lives of Ronald Reagan and Karol Wojtyła, both boys’ mothers, born a year apart, suffered significant health crises when the boys were eight years old.


In the winter of 1919, in the town of Monmouth, yet another Illinois town where the Reagans lived briefly, something near-tragic happened to Reagan’s mom. As World War I drew to a close, the jubilant Illinois town was jolted by the influenza epidemic that was killing tens of millions from Europe to America (including Jacinta and Francisco in Fátima). The young Reagan was frightened by the sight of townspeople donning facial masks and of wreaths with black ribbons adorning doors. Schools, libraries, dance halls, and even churches were closed or quarantined.37


This strange flu bug afflicted not the very young and very old, as most viruses do, but perfectly healthy middle-aged people. Nelle Reagan was one of them. She nearly perished. Her husband and sons were sure they were going to lose her. Fortunately, Nelle hung on.


Ronald Reagan might never have become president if his mother had lost her life that winter. Nelle was that much of a formative figure in his development.


Young Karol Wojtyła was not so lucky. Emilia became sick ten years after Nelle Reagan. Her husband and sons watched in horror as they lost her to kidney and congestive heart failure.


Emilia’s husband would outlive her. Nelle would outlive her husband. As we shall see, both Catholic fathers to two great future leaders would die just weeks apart at the start of the tumultuous 1940s.







THE WATERS OF THE ROCK RIVER


The church that so influenced young Ronald Reagan was perched along the Rock River, a tributary of the mighty Mississippi. Church members were once baptized in that river.


When Reagan’s family arrived in Dixon in 1920, they fell in love with a little beach at Lowell Park, tucked aside the Rock River. The young Ronald loved to swim. Athletic like the young Karol, he was an even better swimmer (though not a better soccer goalie). Reagan was so adept at swimming that he set local records in the YMCA pool and was approached by an Olympic scout. He would turn to swimming throughout his life for exercise, relaxation, and recuperation, including as an adult in the 1980s recovering from a shooting—as would the adult Karol in the 1980s after being shot.38


For young Reagan, it was a dream to serve one day as a lifeguard at the Lowell Park beach. He got that job when he was fifteen. Years later he called it “maybe… the best job I ever had.”39 He patrolled as many as a thousand swimmers at a time, all by himself, in dark, murky water, seven days per week, typically 10 A.M. to 9 P.M., for a mere fifteen to sixteen dollars a week.40 He carried that exhausting but exhilarating schedule for seven summers.


Those are some eye-opening numbers, but few compare to this one: seventy-seven. Reagan saved the lives of seventy-seven people in that river during those seven years. It was a number he always held dear. “One of the proudest statistics of my life is 77,” he said decades later.41 Until his dying days, when Alzheimer’s disease would rob him of nearly every memory, he clung to the image of the beach and those saved lives.42


The young Karol made his saves in front of the goalie’s net; the young Reagan made his saves in front of the lifeguard’s stand.


These feats shaped Reagan as a person, helping to make him a dutiful, courageous man. Generally, they taught Reagan quite a bit about life. His close friend and adviser Bill Clark, who more than once listened to Reagan reminisce about summer days at the Rock River, believed that lifeguarding instilled in the young man a basic respect for the “sanctity and dignity of human life” (to borrow the language of John Paul II), which later manifested itself in President Reagan’s opposition to abortion, abhorrence of the prospect of nuclear war, and empathy for those suffering under communist occupation.43


The experiences at the Rock River also instilled a lifesaving attitude that Reagan carried always. He was fully confident that he could play the role of rescuer—and one day would seek to save millions of people from the scourge of atheistic communism.


In that sense, Reagan’s immersion in the waters of the Rock River had an effect not terribly different from his immersion in the waters of the baptismal tank inside the First Christian Church. Both were preparations for related missions, anchored in his Christian faith. He was ready for the wider waters of a treacherous world.













Part 2 PERSECUTIONS AND ERRORS











4 1924–1939 THE “SATANIC SCOURGE” OF COMMUNISM



As Ronald Reagan and Karol Wojtyła were coming of age, Bolshevik Russia was “spreading its errors throughout the world,” as the Lady of Fátima had predicted.


Vladimir Lenin died on January 21, 1924. He was only fifty-three years old but had suffered three strokes. His death led to an internal power struggle between the odious Leon Trotsky and the barbarous Joseph Stalin. The more ruthless Stalin gained the upper hand.


Stalin hated religion as much as, if not more than, Lenin did. Like Lenin, he was raised a Christian; he even attended seminary. Also like Lenin, he tossed aside his faith as a teen. He came to disdain every aspect of religion.


That scorn is evident today in surviving correspondence from January and February 1930 between Alexander Likhachev, a Soviet official, and Ivan Tovstukha, personal secretary to Stalin. The pair was examining the ongoing “problem” of the ringing of church bells in Russian villages. Such noise was strictly prohibited. Who were the cretins responsible for this counterrevolutionary activity? The good comrades discussed removing all remaining church bells, melting them down, and recasting them into “useful things” for the atheist regime—a plan they eventually carried out.


Stalin ordered the destruction of the glorious Cathedral of Christ the Savior, which was visible from the Kremlin. Czar Alexander I had dedicated the church in gratitude to Divine Providence for saving Russia from Napoleon. It was the pride of a nation, with Michelangelo-like artwork adorning the towering ceilings. But the Soviet atheists could not tolerate this holy symbol of old Russia. Stalin called for the destruction of the cathedral. In its place, he ordained, the communists would erect a Palace of the Soviets, a giant monument to their secular ideology.


In December 1931, the Soviets dynamited the ornate cathedral. Finding a construction worker willing to push the button was not easy, but the work was done: the cathedral was reduced to rubble. It would take more than a year to cart away all the debris.


Erecting the Palace of the Soviets proved far more problematic. The Soviets held an international design competition for their massive structure, which Stalin insisted be at least as tall as the Eiffel Tower. But the nearby river often flooded the site, and the Soviets repeatedly delayed construction. What was supposed to be a monument to the glories of communism remained nothing but a huge hole in the ground.


The Palace of the Soviets was never built. Two decades later, Moscow converted the site into a huge municipal swimming pool.


Soviet central planners failed to meet their grandiose ambitions. Stalin and his minions proved effective at only one thing: killing.




A VISIT TO THE UNITED STATES


In the 1930s, Karol Wojtyła was an adolescent, getting along without a mom but buoyed by a loving father. Ronald Reagan was a college student at little Eureka College, a northwestern Illinois institution founded by the Disciples of Christ, his mother’s denomination. Both were in training for their later life’s calling.


One man whose calling had already come was Eugenio Pacelli. By the mid-1930s, two decades after his appointment as papal nuncio to Germany, the Italian had become Cardinal Pacelli, having risen to the prestigious positions of Vatican secretary of state and camerlengo (chamberlain). He was Pope Pius XI’s right-hand man. And in the fall of 1936 he became the highest-ranking Catholic official ever to visit the United States.


In 1936 the United States had no formal diplomatic representation with the Holy See, and still would not for another half century, until a president named Reagan sealed the deal with a pope named John Paul II. Pacelli made the trip to ensure a high-level diplomatic interaction.


He had almost landed in America a few years earlier. The Catholic University of America, in Washington, D.C., had asked him to join the faculty. It was an alluring offer, but his immense duties in Europe kept him from accepting. Now, with Europe under siege, with fascists in power in Germany, with communists fanning out from the Soviet Union, and with fascists and communists battling one another in Spain, Pacelli knew he needed to make the trip so the Vatican could forge closer ties with America. An ailing Pius XI gave Pacelli his enthusiastic blessing.


Pacelli observed that America so “nobly” united “a sense of discipline with a well-ordered liberty.”1 It was a shrewd observation of what the American Founders had intended. A contemporary, the Catholic and conservative intellectual Russell Kirk, spoke similarly of the importance in America of “ordered liberty.” This was a proper freedom, a freedom that was not license: freedom infused with a sense of noble responsibility rooted in and fostered by faith. Individual Americans needed “inner order,” said Kirk, before their country could successfully operate with “outer order.” Another contemporary Catholic writer, Thomas Merton, who was trying to survive a toxic communist influence at New York’s Columbia University, referred to this as “trained liberty.”


Pacelli, and the Vatican generally, also understood the vital importance of American Catholicism to the long-term vigor of the Church. Even Church critics in America were acutely aware of this. The liberal George Seldes acknowledged that “it cannot be denied that the American voice today is loud at the Vatican.” Seldes noted British cardinal Henry Edward Manning’s prophecy that “the future of Catholicism is in America.”2


Pacelli sailed for America in early October 1936. His ocean liner arrived in New York Harbor to a teeming crowd and throng of reporters. One photographer maneuvered himself atop a lifeboat, where he could capture Pacelli’s head. He yelled out, “Hey, Mister Cardinal! Look this way.” The photographer had himself the best picture of the smiling secretary of state’s arrival.3


The Italian had come to America for a two-week visit. He saw all the sights in New York, including from the Empire State Building. His New York stay included a meeting with President Franklin Delano Roosevelt in Hyde Park. FDR was impressed, and would later refer to Pacelli as “a good friend and an old friend.”4 Pacelli met with FDR on November 5 for a two-hour lunch. The future pontiff congratulated FDR on his reelection victory the previous day.5


It was a pleasant get-together, notwithstanding the “mental sparring contest” (as FDR described it) over the status of communism. Pacelli warned of a “great danger” of communism in America, which FDR naively dismissed. This was no surprise, given that FDR’s administration was soiled with communist agents, sympathizers, fellow travelers, and dupes, including his and Eleanor’s close pal Harry Hopkins, plus Lauchlin Currie, Alger Hiss, Harry Dexter White, and Joseph Davies, to name just a few. One day FDR would serve up Karol Wojtyła’s Poland (and the rest of Eastern Europe) to Stalin’s Soviet Union.6


FDR was concerned chiefly with fascism. With many liberals, the preferred enemy was to the right, not the left. The president made this clear to Pacelli, saying that he feared America would go fascist, not communist. “No,” replied Pacelli. “Yes,” countered FDR.7


This went back and forth before a frustrated Pacelli finally said, “Mr. President, you simply do not understand the terrible importance of the communist movement!”


FDR indeed did not. He would spend nearly the entirety of World War II accommodating “Uncle Joe” Stalin and believing just about everything the communist despot told him.8 After all, FDR said of Stalin, “he likes me.” “I think that if I give him [Stalin] everything I possibly can and ask nothing from him in return, noblesse oblige,” said FDR after one of his conferences with Stalin, “he won’t try to annex anything and will work with me for a world of democracy and peace.”9


That was not Pacelli’s view of Stalin.







PACELLI AND THE FAMILY OF THE FIRST CATHOLIC PRESIDENT


As we shall see throughout this book, such exchanges have relevance to the great battle of the twentieth century. All relate to confronting those errors that a Lady in Fátima foresaw. To that end, another Pacelli meeting in America was of particular relevance to the crimes ahead.


Among those present at Hyde Park during that FDR-Pacelli lunch was Joseph P. Kennedy, a rising force who would become known as patriarch of the Kennedy dynasty. Kennedy was one Democrat never naive to the communist threat. To the contrary, if Joe Kennedy had an international blind side, it was to European fascism. But on the communist threat, he and the cardinal were kindred spirits.


Joseph Kennedy’s wife, Rose, was there for the Hyde Park lunch as well. Thanks to Rose, we have a written account of Pacelli’s activities that day. In an undated entry in her diary, which years later she amended with the label “Cardinal Pacelli Now Pope Pius XII visits President Roosevelt,” Rose described the meeting.10


She remembered a brisk, sunny November day, when she and her husband left the house to meet Pacelli, his Italian secretary, and New York’s Bishop Donahue at the “one hundred and twenty fifth street railroad station” to accompany them to Hyde Park. “He immediately impressed us as being very genial,” Rose wrote of Pacelli, “probably because he had a ready smile which lighted his face constantly. In repose he had one of the most inspiring faces I have ever seen. It seemed to reflect great nobility of mind and purpose.”11


They all boarded the train and started the hour-long ride to the Roosevelt abode, with Pacelli and Joe Kennedy talking about what Rose called “general conditions” in America. FDR’s secretary greeted them at the Hyde Park station. At FDR’s home, they were welcomed by the president’s mother, whom Rose described as “about eighty [years old], dignified, handsome and gracious,” resembling a European “duchess.” The president greeted them in a wheelchair in his large living room. Rose remembered the two men speaking alternately English and French.


At one point, FDR’s two grandchildren were brought to Pacelli for what Rose called “a papal blessing.” Rose wrote, “The Cardinal was gentle and understanding and the President beamed approvingly.” The adults then went to the table for lunch, with Pacelli saying grace. Rose regretted a lunch conversation that went too fast, with talk mainly of languages (Pacelli knew seven or eight of them), geography, and Pacelli’s time “in Belgium during the German occupation after the World War.” When lunch ended, the visit was essentially over. Mrs. Roosevelt, the matriarch, asked Pacelli to bless the house. After final handshakes, Pacelli and the Kennedys departed together.


As they neared the Hyde Park station again, Mrs. Kennedy recalled, their group was astonished to see “vast throngs of children, accompanied by Sisters, waving American and Italian flags.” Apparently, the policeman at the station had notified the local Catholic school that a special guest was in town. The nuns rallied the kids outdoors. Pacelli responded with what Rose called “an endearing gesture.” He got out of the car and “walked the last mile to the station on foot” alongside the children and nuns. “I shall never forget that picture,” said Rose, “the Cardinal with his red robe flying in the October breeze, passing from the top of the hill down the long lanes of smiling, excited children, waving their flags and blessing themselves simultaneously.” She said the nuns’ faces were “radiant, overjoyed… as they knelt reverently on the cold stone pavement for his blessing. He graciously bestowed it right and left.” By then, other Catholics had arrived at the station to see the future pope.


Once arrived back in New York, Pacelli rode with the Kennedy couple to their house in Bronxville, where the family lived from 1928 to 1938.12 Very few sources have reported on this intriguing visit, and those that have done so have not provided extensive details, including whether America’s future first Catholic president, John F. Kennedy, was present to meet with this first would-be pope in America.13 John had started college at Harvard that fall, though Bronxville was not too far a ride for him to come home to greet such an esteemed Vatican official. His ambitious father would have wanted him to meet the Holy See’s secretary of state.


Rose Kennedy’s account suggests that John was not there, though his devout younger brother Bobby was. Bobby was also presidential timber, and an intense anticommunist who would be victimized by communism.


Rose remembered joyously that Pacelli sat on a couch surrounded by her children. The kids asked Pacelli “childish questions about his jewelled cross and about his Cardinal’s ring.” She said he answered the questions “simply and smilingly.” He then “stood outside patiently” for photographs, gave a final benediction to the Kennedys and their servants, and left. “We had a last glimpse of the colorful red robe with the noble endearing face,” wrote a touched Rose, “and His Eminence had gone.” Mrs. Kennedy did not record details of any religious or political conversation the future pope might have had.


From New York, Pacelli traveled the country. He took in the sights and ideas of the American founding. In Philadelphia, he visited the Liberty Bell. When he went to Washington, he was escorted by motorcade along the Potomac to George Washington’s home in Mount Vernon.


While in Washington, he spoke at Catholic University, where he said that “only the fatherly prohibition” of Pope Pius XI had kept him from accepting the professorship offered there years earlier. He also spoke at the National Press Club, where he said that glory does not belong to “those who triumph on the battlefield, but to those who safeguard tranquility and peace.” It was a message that Adolf Hitler needed to hear.


Pacelli took in the fullness and diversity of American life. He received honorary degrees at several Catholic universities, including Notre Dame, and traveled eight thousand miles visiting cities like Cleveland, Chicago, Kansas City, and Saint Paul. He even visited the Boulder Dam. While in California, he visited Hollywood—arriving there just before a young man from the Midwest named Ronald Reagan.14


The visit to America was time well spent for the future Pope Pius XII, who was destined to become America’s first Cold War ally in the chair of Saint Peter. The visit was rich with tragic irony as well, given that many of the figures he visited would be torched by communism’s mendacity and errors, from FDR to the Kennedy boys.


In all, Pacelli was being prepared for the clash against atheistic communism. Unlike the young Ronald Reagan and Karol Wojtyła, whose entrances upon the world stage were decades away, Pacelli’s grand entry was only three years away.







DIVINE REDEMPTION: ON ATHEISTIC COMMUNISM


Eugenio Pacelli’s predecessor in the chair of Saint Peter, Pope Pius XI, had been embroiled in the battle against communism since Lenin consolidated power.


From the beginning of his papacy in February 1922, Pius XI had been a stalwart fighter against communism. He coined some of the most memorable Church statements against communism/socialism, particularly in his classic 1931 encyclical Quadragesimo Anno: “Socialism [is]… irreconcilable with true Christianity. Religious socialism, Christian socialism, are contradictory terms; no one can be at the same time a good Catholic and a true socialist.”


In 1937, Pius XI’s Vatican responded scathingly to the communist threat, officially describing communism as a “collectivistic terrorism” threatening the world, a “savage barbarity,” a pernicious “plague” promulgated by Marxist “powers of darkness.” Mincing no words, the Catholic Church called communism a “satanic scourge.”15


These explosive words appeared in a formal Church encyclical, a major statement titled Divini Redemptoris, carrying the subtitle “On Atheistic Communism.” Its significance was difficult to overstate, as was the state of apoplexy it unleashed in the communist world.


Divini Redemptoris offered an intense examination of atheistic communism, arguably the most damning official declaration ever issued. Released March 19, 1937—the solemnity of Saint Joseph, patron of the universal Church and the custos, the guardian or protector, of the child Jesus—the encyclical was produced during another scourge: the Spanish Civil War, a brutal struggle between two totalitarian extremes, fascism and communism. The civil war was yet another manifestation of the errors of international communism.


In this striking document, Pius XI called communism “Godless,” “by its nature anti-religious,” “intrinsically wrong,” a form of “perversity,” “trickery,” a “fury,” “poison,” “violent, deceptive,” an “extreme danger,” a “deluge which threatens the world,” a “collectivistic terrorism… replete with hate,” and a “plague” leading to “ruin” and “catastrophe.” Divini Redemptoris said that his scourge “conceals in itself a false messianic idea” and was a form of “class-warfare which causes rivers of blood to flow,” a “savage barbarity” that “has not confined itself to the indiscriminate slaughter of bishops” and destruction of churches and monasteries. The Marxists were orchestrating a battle against “the very idea of Divinity.”


“The evil we must combat,” asserted the encyclical, “is at its origin primarily an evil of the spiritual order. From this polluted source the monstrous emanations of the communistic system flow with satanic logic.”


This strident rhetoric was grounded in Aquinas, in faith and reason, in revelation, and, equally important, in an already rich tradition of Church critiques of Marxist ideology. That tradition dated back to Pope Pius IX’s very early condemnation in the encyclical Qui Pluribus (On Faith and Religion), released in November 1846, two years before the publication of the Communist Manifesto. Qui Pluribus denounced “the unspeakable doctrine of Communism, as it is called, a doctrine most opposed to the very natural law.” If this doctrine was accepted, the encyclical said, “the complete destruction of everyone’s laws, government, property, and even of human society itself would follow.” Pius IX predicted severe destruction from communism, which he assessed as among “the most dark designs of men in the clothing of sheep, while inwardly ravening wolves.” These men peddled their nostrums “by means of a feigned and deceitful appearance of a purer piety, a stricter virtue and discipline; after taking their captives gently, they mildly bind them, and then kill them in secret. They make men fly in terror from all practice of religion, and they cut down and dismember the sheep of the Lord.” The pope blasted the writings of communists, saying these works, “filled with deceit and cunning,” “spread pestilential doctrines everywhere and deprave the minds especially of the imprudent, occasioning great losses for religion.”


The next line in the 1846 encyclical is especially interesting, particularly the use of the term errors, the word Our Lady of Fátima would choose to describe the coming horrors of Soviet communism seven decades later:




As a result of this filthy medley of errors which creeps in from every side, and as the result of the unbridled license to think, speak and write, We see the following: morals deteriorated, Christ’s most holy religion despised, the majesty of divine worship rejected, the power of this Apostolic See plundered, the authority of the Church attacked and reduced to base slavery, the rights of bishops trampled on, the sanctity of marriage infringed, the rule of every government violently shaken and many other losses for both the Christian and the civil commonwealth.





Those errors are precisely what would come to pass under Soviet communism: “the sanctity of marriage” was violated, divorce and abortion rates skyrocketed, and the Church was attacked at every turn.


Pius IX’s successor, the great Leo XIII, likewise went after communism in the first year of his pontificate. On April 21, 1878, he released his first encyclical, Inscrutabili Dei Consilio (On the Evils of Society), and then three days after Christmas, on December 28, 1878, released the second, Quod Apostolici Muneris (On Socialism).


In Quod Apostolici Muneris, Pope Leo XIII excoriated communism as “the fatal plague which insinuates itself into the very marrow of human society only to bring about its ruin.” This “deadly plague” was “creeping into the very fibers of human society and leading it on to the verge of destruction.” These evils, the pontiff admonished, “have so rapidly increased.”


Writing of “that sect of men who, under various and almost barbarous names, are called socialists, communists, or nihilists,” Leo XIII said: “They leave nothing untouched or whole which by both human and divine laws has been wisely decreed for the health and beauty of life. They refuse obedience to the higher powers, to whom, according to the admonition of the Apostle, every soul ought to be subject, and who derive the right of governing from God.”


Leo’s papacy ended in 1903, but the Church’s battle with atheistic communism was just beginning. More statements followed, in 1924, 1928, 1930, 1931, two in 1932, and 1933, all before Divini Redemptoris in 1937.16 Divini Redemptoris accurately stated that the Church had called public attention to the perils of communism “more frequently and more effectively” than “any other public authority on earth.”


By delving into communist thought and taking on the philosophy’s own claims, the Church made clear that the notion of a “Christian Marxist” was an oxymoron. In the dialectical and historical materialism Marx advocated, “there is no room for the idea of God.”


Divini Redemptoris concluded by affirming, “We place the vast campaign of the Church against world communism.” The Church called on the assistance of not just clergy in “these troublous times” but also the laity “to fight the battles of the Lord.”


Given this long record of papal declarations, it is no secret why communists so reviled the Roman Catholic Church. The Church knew who they were and did not hesitate to blow the whistle.







ON THE GERMAN REICH


Many of the Roman Catholic Church’s critics have contended that the Church was tough on communism but soft on fascism. To make this argument is to overlook another powerful encyclical that Pius XI issued just five days before Divini Redemptoris.


On March 14, 1937, Passion Sunday, the Vatican released Mit Brennender Sorge, a Pius XI encyclical “On the Church and the German Reich.” Its chief author under Pius XI was Eugenio Pacelli, the future Pope Pius XII, recent traveler to America and former bishop to Bavaria.


Writing of the situation in Germany, the encyclical noted that the Church had “tried to sow the seed of a sincere peace.” Unfortunately, “other men,” whom the Church not-so-diplomatically deemed “the enemy of Holy Scripture,” had “oversowed the cockle of distrust, unrest, hatred, defamation, of a determined hostility overt or veiled, fed from many sources and wielding many tools, against Christ and His Church. They, and they alone with their accomplices, silent or vociferous, are today responsible, should the storm of religious war, instead of the rainbow of peace, blacken the German skies.”


In a statement that repeatedly used words like dark and evil to describe the prevailing situation under Hitler, the Church warned, “Whoever exalts race, or the people, or the State, or a particular form of State, or the depositories of power,… whoever raises these notions above their standard value and divinizes them to an idolatrous level, distorts and perverts an order of the world planned and created by God.” Mit Brennender Sorge urged the German faithful to “refuse to yield to this aberration” that established itself as a “rival” to God. In a direct challenge to the ultranationalism of Nazism and fascism generally, the Church said that “none but superficial minds could stumble into concepts of a national God, of a national religion; or attempt to lock within the frontiers of a single people, within the narrow limits of a single race, God, the Creator of the universe, King and Legislator of all nations.”


The encyclical thanked those faithful German priests—many of whom would be dispatched to concentration camps and gassed—for persevering “in their Christian duty and in the defense of God’s rights in the teeth of an aggressive paganism.” It ordered priests to stay faithful to their Church and the Christian faith, above all sacrificing themselves and their own well-being to help and love their persecuted neighbors: “The priest’s first loving gift to his neighbors is to serve truth and refute error in any of its forms. Failure on this score would be not only a betrayal of God and your vocation, but also an offense against the real welfare of your people and country. To all those who have kept their promised fidelity to their Bishops on the day of their ordination; to all those who in the exercise of their priestly function are called upon to suffer persecution; to all those imprisoned in jail and concentration camps, the Father of the Christian world sends his words of gratitude and commendation.”


Numerous priests, including the Polish Franciscan Maximilian Maria Kolbe and the German Jesuit Alfred Delp, as well as nuns like Edith Stein, would honor this call. They went to their deaths with their Jewish brothers and sisters, side by side, comforting their neighbors in places like Auschwitz.


In Mit Brennender Sorge, the Roman Catholic Church urged “young Germans… not to be overcome by evil, but to aim at the triumph of good over evil.” It also implored German parents to stay true and raise their children in the faith. Among such parents at the time were those of a German boy named Joseph Ratzinger, the future Pope Benedict XVI, who would assume the name of the pope (Benedict XV) tormented by Europe’s descent into World War I.


The encyclical concluded by imploring the German people en masse to “return to religion, bend the knee before Christ, and arming themselves against the enemies of God, again resume the task God has laid upon them.”


The “days of tribulation” that the encyclical spoke of would only get worse, reaching unimaginable depths of cruelty.


One knowledgeable observer was especially impressed with the Church’s consistent opposition to both totalitarian threats, fascist and communist. A former communist who had spied for the Soviets, this man was now a writer at Time magazine. His spectacular case one day would make the front pages of every newspaper and greatly inspire Ronald Reagan. “No matter what critics might say,” wrote Whittaker Chambers, “it is scarcely deniable that the Church Apostolic, through the encyclicals and other papal pronouncements, has been fighting against totalitarianism more knowingly, devoutly and authoritatively, and for a longer time, than any other organized power.”17


Chambers typed those words in a remarkable cover feature on Pope Pius XII for Time. He was impressed with the consistency of the Church and its pope.







AMERICA’S BISHOP: FULTON SHEEN


We could not proceed at this point in the narrative without acknowledging another force in the rising crusade against atheistic communism—a dynamic, brilliant American priest named Fulton Sheen.


As noted, in the twentieth century Sheen became the most recognized and influential Catholic in America, later dubbed “America’s Bishop” by biographer and historian Thomas Reeves.18 He was so renowned because he was so gifted. He was a superb communicator, through the spoken word, on radio and then television, and the written word, delivered via a syndicated column and innumerable books and pamphlets.


Sheen was born May 8, 1895, in El Paso, Illinois, a tiny town eighty miles from Ronald Reagan’s Dixon—and, not unlike Reagan, born humbly in an apartment over a hardware store.19 Like Reagan, Sheen never lost that Midwest feel and touch, even as he ascended to heights of popularity on both coasts and every household in between.20


The Illinoisan was ordained in the diocese of Peoria in 1919, just as Eugenio Pacelli faced malevolent forces in post–World War I Germany. Today, a drive out of Peoria, directly from the parking lot at Sheen’s onetime church, takes motorists along the Ronald Reagan Highway to Eureka College and to the various towns where Reagan lived, such as Galesburg.


(I have been asked over the years whether Reagan and Sheen ever met.21 Their paths could have easily crossed. Both were natives of northwest Illinois, and it is possible that Jack or Neil or even Ronald attended a Mass in Peoria while Sheen was present. It is more likely that Sheen and Reagan encountered each other in Hollywood, where the priest hosted an annual event and knew Reagan’s ex-wife, Jane Wyman. They had hit TV shows at the same time in the 1950s. Both were vocal anticommunists. I directed the question to Nancy Reagan, who agreed that “it would make sense that they would have met” but said she could not recall their having done so.)22


In the 1930s, Sheen had not yet reached his peak of popularity, which would come with the advent of television in the 1950s. But he was still very well known, particularly via the huge reach of his NBC radio program, The Catholic Hour. He was also known to Eugenio Pacelli, as well as to the man who had made Pacelli cardinal and secretary of state.


In the summer of 1934, Pope Pius XI named Sheen a papal chamberlain, a member of the papal household, with the title “Monsignor.” A year later, he elevated Sheen to domestic prelate, with the title “Right Reverend Monsignor.” Sending congratulations to Sheen was Secretary of State Pacelli.23


There was no more effective Catholic apologist in America than Fulton Sheen. He taught on every aspect of the faith, from Mary to the Eucharist. But he was especially effective in dissecting atheistic communism, which brought him closer to Pius XI and the future Pius XII.


During a private audience with Sheen in 1934,24 Pius XI told the American to study Karl Marx and communism and to expose their fallacies when speaking in public. The pontiff advised Sheen to speak on communism “at every opportunity” and to never cease to “warn Americans of its dangers.”


Loyal to his pope and his Church, Sheen heeded the request. The American priest dove into an extensive study of Marx, Lenin, communism, Stalin, and the Bolsheviks. The subject became a core element of his mission, message, and outreach. Sheen read and spoke several languages, thus finding in Marx’s most obscure writings various untranslated tidbits and introducing them into the English world. Among the more telling quotations from Marx was this one: “Communism begins where atheism begins,” which Sheen exhumed from the French original and repeated often.25


“Marx was not first a Communist and then an atheist,” Sheen wrote. “He was first an atheist, then a Communist. Communism was merely the political expression of his atheism. As he hated God, so would he hate those who would own property.”26


Sheen added: “In order to understand the Communists’ idea of truth, we have to substitute the philosophy of Communism for God; in other words, the ultimate origin of truth is in their Party, which falls heir to the philosophy of Marx and Lenin.”27


Sheen dramatically forecast that Soviet communists had “put before the world a dilemma,” an “apocalyptic” one: “They have thrown down the gauntlet to the world. The voice is either brotherhood in Christ or comradeship in anti-Christ. There is no alternative. If the one does not reign, the other will. They will have chosen the comradeship in anti-Christ—they can devour anything that is not brotherhood in Christ.”28 Communism, he said, was inspired not by the spirit of Christ “but by the spirit of the serpent… the Mystical Body of the Anti-Christ.”29


In his 1935 Lenten sermon at Saint Patrick’s, Sheen stayed true to his pope’s request. He called out communism and its lust to “confiscate, disperse, and annihilate.” He described communism as a brutish parody of religion, “the ape of Christianity.” He predicted that neither “New Deals [n]or fascism” would stop communism because they could not “summon forth sufficient zeal and fervor.” They lacked communists’ absolute devotion to their “religion.”30


In the next year’s Lenten sermon, March 16, 1936, Sheen referred to communism as a “slave state” and a form of materialism “gone mad.” (Interestingly, Ronald Reagan forty years later would refer to communism as a “form of madness.”) “Why can’t the modern mind see there is nothing new in communism?” he asked. “It is a groan of despair.”31


A week later, March 23, Sheen called the USSR “the most anti-Christ nation on the face of the earth.” He told the assembled that it was fitting that Soviet communism’s emblem was “a rotted corpse, the body of Lenin—a perfect symbol of that to which all communism must lead us all, unto dust, unto dissolution, unto death.” The priest said that communism had replaced general heresy as the foremost enemy of the Church.32


Sheen said that the communists had failed to convince the world that there is no God. Rather, he quipped, they had succeeded only in convincing the world that there is a Devil.33


In this and much more—including the Nazi threat—Sheen and Eugenio Pacelli were kindred spirits. While Pacelli was secretary of state, the two spent an hour together in Rome discussing the troubled world. Sheen reported that Pacelli was especially concerned about the threat emanating from Germany, noting that the secretary of state spoke “with considerable vehemence against Hitler and Nazism.”34


Both ideologies, Nazism and Bolshevism, were totalitarian and had the potential to spark larger wars. But communism was worse in one important respect: it had much broader appeal around the world, as the Comintern was organizing and encouraging communist parties in country after country.


The situation was the same in America. Though there were some Nazi sympathizers, the United States had no Nazi Party or publications akin to the Communist Party USA and its organs. As Fulton Sheen understood, Nazism was (at the moment) the greater external threat to America, whereas communism was the longer-term internal threat.35 Both threats, fascism and communism, Nazism and Bolshevism, were diabolical and dangerous.


Sheen emphasized that the Church had consistently opposed all forms of totalitarianism. “The Church saw the evils of totalitarianism and condemned each in turn,” wrote Sheen. “The Church condemned fascism in the encyclical Non abbiamo bisogno which was written in Italian because fascism was a national phenomenon; it condemned Nazism in the German language in the encyclical Mit brennender sorge because Nazism was a racial phenomenon. It condemned communism in the universal language of Latin in the encyclical Divini Redemptoris because communism is an international phenomenon.”36


In short, the Church had been eminently consistent.


And so, in March 1939, when Eugenio Pacelli became Pope Pius XII, Fulton Sheen was elated. They had already met several times in Rome and America and exchanged letters and publications (those written by Sheen). Now, beginning in 1939, they would meet privately in Rome every year of Pacelli’s papacy, with the pope calling Sheen by his first name. Pacelli told Sheen that he was a “prophet of the times” and would one day have a “high place in heaven.”37


The feeling was mutual. From the moment the papacy began, Sheen extolled Pacelli’s virtues. Tapped by NBC for its special broadcast on the coronation, he sang the new pontiff’s praises. From the pulpit at Saint Patrick’s Cathedral, he said for the first of many times that the new pope was “the only unified moral voice left on earth.”38


And with another war approaching in Europe, such a moral voice would be needed more than ever.













5 1939–1945 “BLOOD, BLOOD, BLOOD, AND AGAIN BLOOD”



On October 5, 1938, a nun in Kraków, Poland, died of tuberculosis at age thirty-three. Within a year, Hitler and Stalin would be devouring her beloved homeland and starting World War II.


It turned out that this nun could not have been more prophetic about what the world would need as it confronted totalitarian threats. But most of the world would not know her name for another seven decades, when a fellow Kraków mystic, a Polish priest-turned-pope, discovered her, resurrected her vision, and canonized her.


She was born Helena Faustina Kowalska, the third of ten children, in August 1905 in the village of Glogowiec, in the heart of Poland. In 1924, nineteen-year-old Helena and her sister went to a dance in a park in the city of Łódź, which in two decades would be ripped to shreds. While at the dance, the teenage Faustina had a vision of a suffering Jesus. It would not be her last. “How long shall I put up with you,” Jesus asked her, “and how long will you keep putting Me off?”1


She dashed to the cathedral, where she said Jesus told her to leave for Warsaw right away to join a convent. She immediately packed a small bag and jumped on a train, not getting her parents’ permission; they had refused her request to enter religious life, an intense desire she had felt since childhood. Nothing could stop her after what she had just seen and been told. Once in the convent, she devoted her life completely to Jesus Christ. She took the name “Maria.”


Faustina’s religious life was a mix of suffering, torment, persecution, illness, dedication, obedience, and ecstasy. As to the last, she was every bit the mystic, experiencing terrifying but profound visions and prophecies and often seeing and communicating directly (she claimed) with Christ and with the Blessed Mother. The most stirring vision came on February 22, 1931, while she was in her cell at the convent. She said that Jesus appeared, clothed in white, with his right hand raised as if giving a blessing to the world, while the left hand touched a garment at his breast. From the opening in the garment, exuding from Jesus’s sacred heart, were two large rays, one red and the other white, representing blood and water to heal the world of its sins. “In silence I gazed intently at the Lord,” said Faustina. “My soul was overwhelmed with fear, but also with great joy.”2


The Christ figure instructed the nun: “Mankind will not enjoy peace until it turns with confidence to My Mercy.”


Jesus asked Faustina to paint this image displayed before her, and to inscribe it with the words “Jesus, I trust in you.” Since she was not a painter herself, painters were commissioned. Jesus also called for the universal Church to celebrate an annual Feast of Divine Mercy the first Sunday after Easter. That feast day would eventually be established but only after a long wait. When it was finally accomplished, nearly seventy years after her death, it would be done through the first and only Polish pope.


Among the nun’s grimmest prophetic visions was a Fátima-like vision of hell. “I, Sister Faustina Kowalska, by the order of God, have visited the Abysses of Hell so that I might tell souls about it and testify to its existence,” she wrote in her diary. “The devils were full of hatred for me, but they had to obey me at the command of God. What I have written is but a pale shadow of the things I saw. But I noticed one thing: That most of the souls there are those who disbelieved that there is a hell.” She also saw, Dante-like, special sections reserved for specific agonies earned in this fallen world. “There are caverns and pits of torture where one form of agony differs from another,” she recorded. In a situation similar to what the Fátima children reported witnessing, she added, “I would have died at the very sight of these tortures if the omnipotence of God had not supported me.”3


The world had fallen so far, so deep, that Faustina said it required an “Ocean of Mercy” that Jesus alone could offer. She said this on the eve of a war that would tear apart Europe.


The Polish nun did not live to see the horrors of the war to come. Less than a year after her death, the Nazis invaded her native Poland, and soon thereafter the Soviets followed suit. The Second World War had begun.




SOVIET ATROCITIES IN POLAND


Poland’s fate had been sealed during the dark of night August 23–24, 1939, when Hitler’s Germany and Stalin’s USSR signed a secret pact. It was a marriage made in Hades.


Some of those in Hitler’s close circle at his Berghof felt the chill. As they awaited news from Nazi foreign minister Joachim von Ribbentrop of the deal he was working on with his Soviet counterpart, Vyacheslav Molotov, and Stalin himself, they looked up at the high mountain peaks, where they saw a frightening view. “The entire sky was in turmoil,” remembered Hitler crony Herbert Döring. “It was blood-red, green sulphur grey, black as the night, a jagged yellow.” Döring added: “Everyone was looking [at the sky] horrified—it was intimidating.… Everyone was watching.” A woman in the group told Hitler: “My Führer, this augurs nothing good. It means blood, blood, blood, and again blood.”


“Hitler was totally shocked,” recalled Döring. “He was almost shaking.”4


Back in Moscow, meanwhile, Joseph Stalin was all smiles, raising his glass to toast his new “lasting friendship with Germany and the great Führer.” He asserted to Hitler’s foreign minister, “I assure you that the Soviet Union takes this pact very seriously.”5


One week later, the fascists and communists consummated their marriage by taking the territory between them called Poland. In keeping with the pact, Hitler invaded Poland from the west on September 1. Two and a half weeks later, on September 17, the Red Army invaded Poland from the east.


The atrocities that followed were legion. The Soviets seized thousands of Polish military officers, some of the best of the young Karol Wojtyła’s countrymen. Had the elder Karol Wojtyła remained in the military, he might have been one of them. On March 5, 1940, Stalin signed their death warrant, condemning 21,857 of them to “the supreme penalty: shooting.”


The officers were taken to three execution sites, the most infamous of which was in the Katyn Forest, twelve miles west of Smolensk, Russia. There, the Polish men were slaughtered like farm animals. The Soviets covered up their crime.


It was hardly a secret that the Soviets had been shipping captured Poles into Russian territory since 1939. The April 15, 1940, edition of the New York Times reported, “The Soviet authorities are transporting a large part of the population of Eastern Poland into inner Russia.” They were given “only fifteen minutes to leave their homes,” added the Times, and “even seriously ill persons are forced into the unheated emigration trains.”


But what they did to the 21,857 sons of Poland would remain a Kremlin secret for decades.


The gruesome logistics were divulged decades later, after the Cold War, by General Dmitri Tokarev, who was NKVD chief for the Kalinin region during the slaughter.6 Tokarev explained how in his prison the Soviets carefully lined two rooms with velvet to muffle the sound of gunfire. Poland’s finest were handcuffed, escorted in, pushed to their knees to face the wall, and shot in the back of the head.


“The first night they brought three hundred people,” Tokarev recalled of the first shipment of captured Polish officers driven to the slaughterhouse. “This was too much. The night was too short and we had to work only at night.” So they scaled down to murdering a mere 250 men per night—every single night for a month.


Tokarev chillingly recalled one Soviet henchman, Vasily Blokhin. Blokhin’s attire included a leather cap, leather gauntlets, and a brown leather apron. “This made a horrible impression on me,” Tokarev confessed fifty years too late. The filmmakers in Ronald Reagan’s Hollywood could not have crafted a better executioner. Historians record Blokhin as having personally executed more than seven thousand Polish officers during the Katyn Forest massacre.


Imagine executing 250 men per night. The mopping up of gallons of blood alone must have been a mighty chore. The Walther pistols the Soviets used, which performed so ably for the Nazi police state, were overwhelmed by the sheer volume of incessant murder. The NKVD masters called on whomever was available—junior Soviet officers, guards, drivers—to pull off this mass extermination and keep it secret.


The bloodletting occurred not only in Kalinin but also in two other Soviet camps, Sarobelsk and Kharkov. After the Soviets murdered the sons of Poland, they stacked the corpses in trucks and drove them to a mass grave in the countryside.7


And then, when it was all finished, those responsible for the murders turned their guns around. Unable to cope with their darkness, several shot themselves.8


This was the price of serving the night.


What the Soviets cultivated at Katyn was an early and especially insidious display of what another Pole, Pope John Paul II, would call a Culture of Death.







A STUNNED WORLD


The Hitler-Stalin Pact of August 1939 had made this mass bloodletting possible. When news of Stalin’s alliance with Hitler hit the communist world, communists everywhere were stunned, especially Jewish communists. They had long despised Nazism. How could they possibly defend this? Defend, though, many of them would. They swore a loyalty oath always to defend Soviet Russia; they had no other option.


Not everyone was surprised that the Nazis and Soviets had teamed up. In March 1939, Fulton Sheen warned of a possible alliance between the two devils, the brown one and the red one. The two could find common ground, said Sheen, in their joint hatred of good and God.9


“There is not a vast difference between them,” Sheen said again that summer, just before the Hitler-Stalin Pact was finalized. “What class is to Russia, race is to Germany, what the bourgeois are to the Russians, the Jews are to the Germans.”10 Here, Sheen foreshadowed words by fellow Illinois native Ronald Reagan, who would say there wasn’t a “dime’s worth of difference” between a fascist and a communist.


Both men were exaggerating for effect. They knew there were significant differences between the two ideologies. In fact, those differences had kept the Nazis and Bolsheviks apart and led many (including Nazi-hating American communists) to think the two could never join forces. But Sheen and Reagan recognized the important commonalities between Nazism and Soviet communism—especially that both were, at their essence, about the tyrannical power of an abusive state that controls and kills certain categories of citizens. The Nazis despised and targeted groups based on ethnicity; the Soviets did so based on class.


“As Americans,” said Sheen at a huge January 1939 rally hosted by the National Council of Catholic Men, “we are not concerned with whether a dictator has a long moustache or a short moustache; or whether he invades the soul through the myth of race or the myth of the class; we are concerned only with the fact that there has been an invasion and expropriation of the inalienable liberties of man.”11 He said that Hitler and Stalin were “two gangsters.”12 Both were “assassins of justice.”13


Above all, there was their joint contempt for God. “The anti-God regime is always the anti-human regime,” said Sheen. “What more clearly proves it than the Red Fascism of Communism and the Brown Fascism of Nazism which, by denying the spirit of God as the source of human rights, makes the State the source?”14


Sheen summed up the two dictators as the modern equivalents of “Pilate and Herod—Christ haters.”15


Fulton Sheen was not the only Church leader to see the disturbing parallels between the communists and the Nazis. As Sheen was warning of a possible Hitler-Stalin alliance, his man in Rome was elevated to the chair of Saint Peter. On March 2, 1939, his sixty-third birthday, Vatican secretary of state Eugenio Pacelli was chosen pope on the third ballot, the quickest choice of a pontiff in more than three hundred years. One cardinal who watched Pacelli’s face as the votes were tabulated later remarked, “I have never seen anyone look so pale and yet continue breathing.”16


No doubt he was pale from the sense of awesome responsibility awaiting him as his Church and the world confronted the Nazi and Bolshevik beasts.


The newly installed Pope Pius XII sat down with Fulton Sheen for their annual meeting after the Hitler-Stalin Pact had been signed and as the world was slipping into war. The new pope asked Sheen whether he was surprised by the Nazi-Soviet alliance. When Sheen said he was not, Pius responded: “I’m glad you are not surprised. Anyone who knows the philosophy of these movements knew they were bound to unite. I expected it for a long time, but it is a very grave danger to the world.”17







TWO YOUNG MEN ACTING IN A BURNING WORLD


No one felt that grave danger like young Karol Wojtyła, nineteen years old when the Nazis and Bolsheviks blew up his blessed homeland that September 1939. The future spiritual leader of the universal Church was in a Polish church when German bombers flew overhead. He was at the magnificent Wawel Cathedral in Kraków, where he had come to make his confession to Father Kazimierz Figlewicz and help serve Mass. He walked past the entombed remains of two Polish heroes, Saint Stanisław and King Władysław Jagiełło, namesake of the university Karol was now attending, when he heard the sirens and Luftwaffe.18


Peggy Noonan, the Reagan speechwriter who wrote an insightful book on John Paul II, observed, “Young Karol, the future pope, was always at church and usually at Mass when the great historical occurrences of his lifetime took place.”19


In high school, Karol had joined and become president of the Society of Mary. He finished high school in Wadowice in 1938, and then he and his father moved to Kraków. There, the young Karol enrolled at the great Jagiellonian University, one of the oldest universities in Europe, famed academic home of the astronomer Copernicus more than four hundred years earlier. While studying philosophy and literature, he also took introductory Russian and Old Church Slavonic in addition to private lessons in French. This was the start of a love of languages that would serve him extremely well. He would dabble in as many as twelve languages.20


It was during this time that he met his spiritual mentor, Jan Tyranowski, and was introduced to the Carmelite mysticism of Saint John of the Cross. It deeply affected him. He studied Spanish simply to absorb the fullness of John of the Cross in the native tongue.


Of course, young Karol was not yet a priest. His professional interest at the time was like that of the twenty-eight-year-old Ronald Reagan, who was not yet a political leader: acting. At the end of the 1938–39 academic year, Karol played “Sagittarius” in a fable/play titled The Moonlight Cavalier, produced by an experimental theater troupe.


As for Ronald Reagan, his acting was much more advanced. He was thriving at Warner Bros.


In 1937, Reagan had traveled to California with the Chicago Cubs, the team for which he did baseball broadcasts for the megastation WHO in Des Moines, Iowa. While on the trip, he had conducted a screen test. It was a one-in-a-million chance, and Reagan figured he would never get a call back. But he impressed the big shots, and the former lifeguard suddenly hit it big. Really big. The boy from Dixon began making movies in Hollywood’s Golden Age.


In his first year, Reagan made eight movies.21 He would ultimately appear in fifty-three films. While some were “B” movies (leading men from Humphrey Bogart to John Wayne did plenty of Bs), Reagan also did many “As,” including with the marquee names in the business: Errol Flynn, Olivia de Havilland, Ginger Rogers, Bette Davis, Lionel Barrymore, Doris Day, and Barbara Stanwyck, to name a few. His face was splashed solo on the cover of Modern Screen magazine (among others).22


“I only recall respect for him as an actor,” recalled actress Judith Anderson.23 Robert Osborne, the face of Turner Classic Movies, states that Reagan was “exceptionally likeable on film” and had won “worldwide recognition” by the late 1930s and early 1940s. He possessed “all the ingredients required of a leading man.”24


By 1941, Reagan had become one of the top five box-office draws in Hollywood. He received more fan mail than any other actor at Warner Bros. except Errol Flynn.25 The kid from a poor family in Illinois was earning upward of $3,500 per week, a pile of money in those days—more money than his father, Jack, had ever earned in a year. Reagan was able to take care of his parents, ending their lifelong financial woes. He bought them a brick house near him in Hollywood, the only home Jack ever owned.


Reagan’s life was going great, but he could see that the world situation was not.


In 1939, with war exploding, Reagan grew very concerned. He voiced his fears of Hitler to family members and friends and colleagues in Hollywood. A dedicated FDR Democrat who was keenly interested in politics and international events, Reagan never hesitated to share his political opinions. He openly denounced what he called “Fascist bigotry” and eagerly made training and anti-Nazi propaganda films for the War Department.26


Karol Wojtyła was worried as well. His writing reflected the trauma of the times and how he grappled with the mystery of suffering. From the combat deaths at the hands of the Nazis and Bolsheviks to the rounding up and “liquidation” of the nation’s huge Jewish population, Poland would lose 20 percent of its population during World War II, the highest percentage of any country in the war.


The future John Paul II looked for a silver living amid this agony. “I have lately given much thought to the liberating force of suffering,” the nineteen-year-old wrote to his mentor in the theater, Mieczysław Kotlarczyk, on November 2, 1939, as the country was completely controlled by Berlin and Moscow. “It is on suffering that Christ’s system rests, beginning with the cross and ending with the smallest human torment.”27


The young actor-playwright began penning his second drama, called Job. (His first had been called David.) It was a retelling of the Old Testament saga as seen through modern Poland’s trials. In this rendition, the future pope wrote:




In what I say I see one thing…


How souls are struggling with grief


Whether they are righteous or sinful.…


I look and see: He is Harmony. I look and see: He balances all.28





Amid the trials, this “Witness to Hope,” as his biographer would call him, found Hope. It was not unlike Ronald Reagan’s “Divine Plan” theology instilled by Nelle: no matter how gloomy a situation was, God had a plan amid the doom. He would work out things for the best. Still, Karol Wojtyła understood that God’s Church would suffer in the meantime. He would convey that in his work as a playwright. “Let theater be a church,” he declared.29


His dedication to the theater and the Church became one and the same, so much so that it was eventually a seamless transition for the actor-playwright to turn forever to the priesthood.







1941: THE LOSS OF TWO EARTHLY FATHERS


Karol Wojtyła’s father watched his proud country be destroyed by the Nazis and their new Bolshevik buddies. His heart could bear little more.


On February 18, 1941, the senior Karol, the only remaining family member to his faithful son, succumbed to a heart attack at the age of sixty-one.


The junior Karol had been working in a rock quarry. Heading home for the hour-long walk, he stopped and grabbed some medicine and food for his father. At his side, as usual, was Mary—a girl named Maria Kydrynski. She often helped the two Wojtyła men, warming up their meal for them in their kitchen.


When they entered the apartment, Maria went to the kitchen while Karol went to his father’s room, where he found his beloved father dead. Maria rushed to the room and discovered the son in tears, blaming himself for not being there to help his dad. He knelt next to his father’s corpse all night. “I’m all alone,” he told friends. “At twenty [years old] I’ve already lost all the people I’ve loved!” He would say years later, “I never felt so alone.”30


Karol was not alone in losing a father at that time.


In yet another parallel in the lives of Karol Wojtyła and Ronald Reagan, the latter lost his father at nearly the same time.


As noted, Jack Reagan’s failures finally seemed behind him. His cheerful son even gave his dad a job answering his fan mail, which the father accepted with a joyful grace. At last, Jack had a secure job, and an easy one.


Unfortunately, the long-toiling shoe salesman had little time to enjoy this respite from a life of financial calamity. Ronald’s dad had a failing heart, too.


On May 18, 1941, exactly three months after the death of the elder Karol Wojtyła, Jack Reagan’s life came to an abrupt end. At 1:30 A.M., after waking, standing, and shifting around the end of his bed, perhaps headed for the bathroom, Jack jerked upright, raised his arms as if asking for help, and collapsed to the floor.31
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